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ABOUT THIS MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Management's discussion and analysis (MD&A) is provided to enable readers to assess the financial condition and results of 

operations of RF Capital Group Inc. (RF Capital or the Company) as at and for the year ended December 31, 2020. 

This MD&A has been prepared with an effective date of March 4, 2021, and should be read in conjunction with the audited 

consolidated financial statements and related notes as at and for the year ended December 31, 2020 (2020 Annual Financial 

Statements). These documents as well as additional information relating to the Company can be accessed at 

www.rfcapgroup.com and at sedar.com. Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year's 

presentation. 

All references to RF Capital refer to the Company together with the consolidated operations controlled by it. All references to 

shareholders refer collectively to holders of common shares (Common Shares), holders of Cumulative 5-Year Rate Reset 

Preferred Shares, Series B of the Company (Series B Preferred Shares), and Cumulative Floating Rate Preferred Shares, Series 

C of the Company (Series C Preferred Shares).  References to Preferred Shares refer to the Series B Preferred Shares and Series 

C Preferred Shares, collectively. 

The Company’s audit committee (Audit Committee) has reviewed this document and, prior to its release, the Company’s 

Board of Directors (Board of Directors) approved it, on the Audit Committee's recommendation. 

Certain numbers contained in this MD&A are subject to rounding. 

IMPACT AND RESPONSE TO COVID-19 

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 outbreak a global pandemic, which resulted in 

governments worldwide enacting emergency measures to combat the spread of the virus. These measures caused material 

disruption to businesses globally and led to considerable stress in global equity markets in the early days of the pandemic.  

Equity markets recovered quickly and significantly from their initial lows in March and ended the year in positive territory.  

The duration and impact of the COVID-19 outbreak is currently unknown, and the strength of the ultimate economic recovery 

will depend on the speed at which a vaccine can be administered on a mass scale.  It is not possible to reliably estimate the 

trajectory of the recovery or the impact on the financial results and condition of the Company in future periods. 

The Company’s response was to move quickly to protect the health and safety of its people and the well-being of the business 

by enabling everyone, except a handful of essential personnel, to work seamlessly from home.  Powered by digital technology, 

and with minimal disruption, the Company’s professionals continued to support fully and offer personal advice to their 

respective clients during this particularly trying period. As the country begins to re-open cautiously, the Company will continue 

along a thoughtfully planned process of helping employees return to the workplace, all while protecting their health and safety 

and that of others. 

For a further description of risk factors associated with the Company, including COVID-19, refer to the “Risk Factors” section 

of the Company’s AIF dated March 4, 2021 and the Information Circular, which are both available under the Company’s profile 

on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.   
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PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND NON-GAAP MEASURES 

Unless otherwise specified herein, financial results, including related historical comparatives, contained in this MD&A, are 

based on the Company’s Annual 2020 Financial Statements, which have been prepared by management in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The Canadian dollar is the Company’s functional and reporting currency 

for purposes of preparing its consolidated financial statements and accordingly, all dollar references in this MD&A are in 

Canadian dollars, unless otherwise specified herein. 

IFRS 5 – Discontinued Operations 

In accordance with IFRS 5, the operating results of the Company’s disposed capital markets businesses are accounted for as 

discontinued operation throughout this MD&A.  Accordingly, certain previously reported figures have been retroactively 

restated to show discontinued operation separately from continuing operations.   

For further information relating to Discontinued Operation, please refer to Note 9 to the 2020 Annual Financial Statements. 

Non-GAAP Measures 

The Company uses certain measures to assess its financial performance that are not generally accepted accounting principles 

(GAAP) measures under IFRS. These measures do not have any standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP and are therefore 

unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other issuers. The Company believes adjusting results by excluding 

the impact of the specified items is more reflective of ongoing financial performance and cash-generating capabilities and 

provides readers with an enhanced understanding of how management views its core performance.   The Company also believes 

that securities analysts, investors, and other interested parties, frequently use these non-GAAP measures in the evaluation of 

companies, many of which present similar metrics when reporting their results. Non-GAAP measures are reported in addition 

to and should not be considered as alternatives or a substitute to net income or comparable metrics determined in accordance 

with IFRS as indicators of the Company’s performance, liquidity, cash flows and profitability.  

These non-GAAP financial measures include the following: 

Assets Under Administration 

Assets under administration (AUA) is a non-GAAP financial measure of client assets that is common to the wealth management 

business. AUA represents the market value of client assets managed and administered by Richardson Wealth from which it 

earns commissions and fees. This measure includes funds held in client accounts as well as the aggregate market value of long 

and short security positions. Richardson Wealth's method of calculating may differ from the methods used by other companies 

and therefore may not be comparable to other companies. Management uses these measures to assess Richardson Wealth’s 

operational performance. 

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA 

EBITDA is the Company’s primary non-GAAP measure that measures its core operating performance by adjusting net income 

to exclude:  

•  Interest expense recorded primarily in connection with subordinated loan financing arrangements; 

•  Income tax expense (benefit) recorded; 

•  Depreciation and amortization expense recorded primarily in connection with leases, equipment and leasehold 

improvements; and 
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•  Transition assistance loan amortization in connection with investment advisor loan programs.  The Company views 

these loans as an effective recruiting and retention tool for advisors in its wealth management business, the cost of 

which is assessed by management upfront when the loan is provided rather than over its term. 

The Company also presents adjusted EBITDA1 which excludes certain share-based compensation costs recorded in connection 

with certain awards granted to employees and investment advisors and one-time costs incurred in connection with the RGMP 

Transaction, including those noted below: 

•  Acquisition Costs: Fourth quarter and fiscal 2020 results were impacted by $1.2 million and $4.3 million, respectively, 

in incremental professional and advisory fees (the RGMP Transaction Costs) in connection with the RGMP 

Transaction compared with $1.1 million recorded in fourth quarter and fiscal 2019, respectively.  Fiscal 2020 also 

included $2.4 million in incremental costs incurred in connection with the Company’s contested annual and special 

meeting of common shareholders held on October 6, 2020 (the Proxy Contest Costs).  Both the RGMP Transaction 

Costs and the Proxy Contest Costs (collectively, the Acquisition Costs) were recorded in the Corporate Segment. 

 

•  Restricted Share Units (RSUs) and Retention Awards: In connection with and prior to the closing of the RGMP 

Transaction, Richardson Wealth incurred a one-time expense of $3.0 million and $0.4 million related to the accelerated 

vesting of all outstanding RSUs (the Accelerated RSU Costs) in third quarter and fourth quarter 2020, respectively, 

totalling $3.4 million.  In connection with the Recognition Plan and other retention awards provided prior to the closing 

of the RGMP Transaction, Richardson Wealth incurred an additional $3.7 million in costs in the fourth quarter of 2020.     

 

•  Amortization of Acquired Intangible Assets: Amortization expense for acquisition-related intangible assets was $2.6 

million in fourth quarter 2020.  This non-cash item is considered by management to be outside of the Company’s core 

operating performance.  Intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis.   
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The following table provides a reconciliation of the Company’s reported results to its adjusted measures including the 

composition of the adjusted measures for the period presented. 

 

($000, except as otherwise noted) 2020 2019 2020 2019

Reported Results

Income (loss) before income taxes from continuing operations 32,137 (6,900) 42,295 (2,278)

Net income (loss) from continuing operations 29,408 (13,710) 39,992 (5,288)

Net income (loss) 28,747 (53,158) 39,992 (8,463)

Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders from continuing operations 25,218 (18,111) 37,985 (6,388)

Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders 24,557 (57,559) 37,985 (9,563)

Reported Measures

Net income (loss) per Common Share (dollars) from continuing operations

  Basic 0.35              (0.26)             0.52                (0.09)             

  Diluted 0.27              (0.26)             0.26                (0.09)             

Net income (loss) per common share (dollars):

Basic 0.34              (0.82)             0.52                (0.13)             

Diluted 0.26              (0.82)             0.26                (0.13)             

Pre-Tax Impact of Adjusting Items:

Gain on investment in associate (45,734) —  (45,734) —  

Acquisition costs 6,664 1,077 1,201 64

RF Capital's proportionate share of accelerated RSU costs and retention payments 2,419 —  1,396 —  

Amortization of acquired intangibles 2,589 —  2,589 —  

Restructuring Charge —  1,975 —  —  

Impact of adjusting items on income (loss) before taxes (34,062)         3,052            (40,548)           64                 

After-Tax Impact of Adjusting Items:

Gain on investment in associate (45,734)         —  (45,734)           —  

Acquisition costs 6,664            1,077 1,201              64

RF Capital's proportionate share of accelerated RSU costs and retention payments 2,419            —  1,396              —  

Amortization of acquired intangibles 1,903            —  1,903              —  

Restructuring Charge —  1,975 —  —  

Deferred tax asset write-down —  8,031 —  —  

Impact of adjusting items on net (loss)/income (34,748)         11,083          (41,234)           64                 

Adjusted Results
1

(Loss) income before income taxes from continuing operations (1,925)           (3,848)           1,747              (2,214)           

Net loss from continuing operations (5,340)           (2,627)           (1,242)             (5,224)           

Net loss (6,001)           (42,075)         (1,242)             (8,399)           

Net loss attributable to common shareholders from continuing operations
(9,530)           (7,028)           (3,249)             (6,324)           

Net loss attributable to common shareholders (10,191)         (46,476)         (3,249)             (9,499)           

Adjusted Measures
1

Net loss per common share (dollars) from continuing operations:

Basic (0.13)             (0.10)             (0.04)               (0.09)             

Diluted (0.10)             (0.09)             (0.02)               (0.08)             

Net loss per common share (dollars):

Basic (0.14)             (0.67)             (0.04)               (0.14)             

Diluted (0.11)             (0.62)             (0.02)               (0.13)             

Three months endedTwelve months ended

December 31,December 31,
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FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION 

This MD&A contains forward-looking information as defined under applicable Canadian securities laws.  This information 

includes, but is not limited to, statements concerning objectives, strategies to achieve those objectives, as well as statements 

made with respect to Management’s beliefs, plans, estimates, projections and intentions and similar statements concerning 

anticipated future events, results, circumstances, performance or expectations that are not historical facts. Forward-looking 

information generally can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as “outlook”, “objective”, “may”, 

“will”, “expect”, “intend”, “estimate”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “should”, “plans” or “continue”, or similar expressions 

suggesting future outcomes or events. Such forward-looking information reflects Management’s current beliefs and is based 

on information currently available to Management. The forward-looking information contained herein is expressly qualified in 

its entirety by this cautionary statement. 

The forward-looking statements included in this MD&A, including statements regarding the nature of the Company’s growth 

strategy going forward and execution of any of its potential plans, are not guarantees of future results and involve numerous 

risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results to differ materially from the potential results discussed or anticipated in 

the forward-looking statements, including those described in this MD&A and in the Company’s latest Annual Information Form 

(AIF).  Such risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, market, credit, liquidity, operational and legal and regulatory 

risks, and other risk factors, including variations in the market value of securities, dependence on key personnel and 

sustainability of fees. Other factors, such as general economic conditions, including interest rate and exchange rate fluctuations, 

may also influence the Company’s results of operations.  For a description of additional risks that could cause actual results to 

materially differ from current expectations, see the “Risk Management” and “Risk Factors” sections in this MD&A and the 

“Risk Factors” section in the Company’s latest AIF. 

Although the Company has attempted to identify important risk factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from 

those contained in forward-looking information, there may be other risk factors not presently known to the Company or that 

the Company presently believes are not material that could also cause actual results or future events to differ materially from 

those expressed in such forward-looking information.  

Although forward-looking information contained in this MD&A release is provided based on management’s reliance on certain 

assumptions it considers reasonable, there can be no assurance that such expectations will prove to be correct.  Certain 

statements included in this MD&A may be considered a “financial outlook” for purposes of applicable Canadian securities 

laws, and as such, the financial outlook may not be appropriate for purposes other than this MD&A. Readers should not place 

undue reliance on the forward-looking statements and information contained in this MD&A. When relying on forward-looking 

statements to make decisions, readers should carefully consider the foregoing factors, the list of which is not exhaustive. 

The forward-looking information contained in this MD&A is made as of the date of this MD&A and should not be relied upon 

as representing the Company’s view as of any date subsequent to the date of this MD&A. Except as required by applicable law, 

the Management and the Board of the Corporation undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking 

information, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.  

All the forward-looking information contained in this MD&A is expressly qualified in its entirety by the foregoing cautionary 

statements. 

 

  



 

8 

 

ABOUT THE COMPANY 

RF Capital Group Inc., formerly GMP Capital Inc., is a public company listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX). The 

Company’s common and preferred shares commenced trading on the Toronto Stock Exchange under its new name and ticker 

symbols (TSX: RCG, RCG.PR.B, RCG.PR.C) on November 24, 2020. 

 

The Company’s principal subsidiaries are Richardson Wealth Limited (Richardson Wealth) and RF Securities Clearing LP. In 

the francophone market, the Company’s wealth management business operates under the name Patrimoine Richardson.  

Richardson Wealth is one of Canada’s leading independent wealth managers and has $31.4 billion in assets under administration 

(as at February 28, 2021) and 19 offices across Canada.  For further information, please visit the Company’s corporate website 

at www.rfcapgroup.com.  

 

Richardson Wealth has been recognized as a Great Place to Work™ for the past three years. 

 

 

 

 

                                                                                                                                              

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RGMP TRANSACTION 

On October 20, 2020, after receiving 95% shareholder vote in favor of the transformative transaction, the Company 

completed: 

 

• the acquisition of all the common shares of Richardson GMP that were not owned by the Company for a purchase 

price of 1.76 common shares of the Company (Common Shares) for each common share of Richardson GMP (the 

RGMP Transaction). In consideration, the Company issued 100,517,533 Common Shares to former Richardson 

GMP shareholders at closing (the Issuance). Of this amount, 10% of the Issuance is freely tradeable shortly after 

closing of the substantial issuer bid noted below and the remaining 90% will be held in escrow and released in equal 

amounts on the first three anniversaries following closing; and 

 

• the purchase pursuant to a substantial issuer bid (SIB) of 16,528,926 of the Company’s outstanding Common Shares 

at $2.42 per Common Share for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $40 million.   

 

 

 

 

http://www.rfcapgroup.com/
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The illustration below shows the percentage ownership for all three of the Company’s common shareholder groups following 

the closing of the RGMP Transaction and the completion of the SIB. 

 

 

 

 
 

.  

 

As part of the RGMP Transaction, Richardson Financial Group Limited demonstrated its strong 

commitment to the Company’s growth strategy by, amongst other things, agreeing to: 

 

• accept Common Shares in lieu of the $43 million cash portion of the purchase price that they were 

otherwise entitled to under Richardson GMP’s Shareholders Agreement (at a reference price of 

$2.42 per Common Share);  

 

• defer the immediate redemption of its $32 million of preferred shares of Richardson GMP held by 

them that were otherwise required to be redeemed at the closing of the RGMP Transaction; and 

the royalty-free use of the Richardson brand on the Company’s wealth management business.  

 

Collectively, these concessions were designed to ensure the Company had sufficient capital to 

pursue its go-forward strategy and leverage a brand with a rich 90-year history in the financial 

services to accelerate growth.   
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GO-FORWARD STRATEGY 

The RGMP Transaction is the culmination of a multi-year journey to transform the Company into a dominant independent 

wealth management firm in Canada. The market for retail financial wealth in Canada is expected to grow from $4.4 trillion to 

$7.7 trillion by 2028 (source: Investor Economics), creating a considerable opportunity for an independent competitor with national 

scale. The Company believes that demographic trends driving a generational shift in wealth have created a growing degree of 

complexity and sophistication of wealth solutions, supporting the long-term value proposition of face-to-face advice.  

 

By completing the RGMP Transaction and associating with the Richardson brand which has a successful 90-year history in 

financial services, the Company’s mission is to be the destination of choice for: 

 

• Canada’s top investment advisors, who share the Company’s entrepreneurial spirit, independent culture and 

philosophy to deliver unparalleled face-to-face advice to Canadians seeking non-bank points of access for holistic 

wealth management solutions across the entire household balance sheet; and  

• For third-party providers of innovative branded and co-branded wealth management solutions for the Company’s 

advisors and clients. 

To realize its mission, the Company intends to grow Richardson Wealth’s 160 investment advisory teams, current $31.4 billion 

in AUA, $268.0 million in revenues in fiscal 2020 and its earnings through three key programs: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Richardson Wealth has a 0.7% share of Canadian retail wealth.  Capturing an additional 1.4% of the existing market or 2% of 

the expected market growth would allow the Company to triple its assets under administration. 

 

 

 

▪ Invest to better support  

advisors 

▪ Retain existing advisor base 

by fostering a strong culture 

and providing them with the 

platform they need to succeed 

▪ Assist advisors in retaining 

and growing their client base 

 

▪ Build a strong brand and 

reputation that will allow 

Richardson Wealth to attract 

Canada’s top advisors 

▪ Build a dedicated team to 

aggressively recruit advisors 

 

 

IIROC and asset 
management firms 

▪ Target other tuck-in 
acquisitions of  
complementary 
businesses, wealth 
solutions and services and 
technology  

 

▪ Target tuck-in acquisitions of 

like-minded brokerages and 

asset management firms 

▪ Acquire complementary 

wealth solutions and services 

that support the Company’s 

strategy 
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Management and the Board, with considerable input from investment advisory teams and supported by a global consulting firm 

with deep expertise in wealth management, have begun to map out a strategy to gain a greater share of the multi-trillion dollar 

wealth management industry.  The strategy will leverage the Company’s single-minded focus on wealth management, best-in-

class advisor teams, and national platform and scale.  This exercise will encompass validating the Company’s view of the 

external market, assessing current capabilities, laying out the desired end-state vision and value proposition, and developing an 

execution roadmap.  The Company intends to complete the review by the second quarter of 2021 and will communicate the 

key elements of its plan by mid-year. 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

To learn more about the Company’s growth strategy please review the Company’s latest Annual Report and the Company’s 

Proxy Circular dated September 8, 2020. Both documents can be found at https://gmpcapital.com/Investor-

Relations/Shareholder-Meetings. 

Reporting Segments 

The Company operates through three business segments: Wealth Management, Operations Clearing, and Corporate. 

Wealth Management 

Richardson Wealth is the Company’s wealth management brand.  It has 160 advisor teams that are focused on providing 

strategic wealth advice and innovative investment solutions to their high net worth clients across Canada.  The company offers 

advisors working under its brand with a platform – including technology, a product shelf, and operational support - that enables 

them to deliver value to existing clients and attract new ones.  It also makes a best-in-class team of tax, estate, and wealth 

planning experts available to advisors to assist with complex client needs. 

The Company’s advisors share an entrepreneurial spirit and desire to provide exceptional service to their clients. There is no 

standard formula for their success; with the boundaries of the Company’s compliance regime, they have the flexibility to 

individually determine how best to serve their clients.  Management is intently focused on creating an environment that will 

maximize retention of existing advisors and attract new talent.   

https://gmpcapital.com/Investor-Relations/Shareholder-Meetings
https://gmpcapital.com/Investor-Relations/Shareholder-Meetings
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The table below highlights the primary revenue streams of the Wealth Management segment: 

Revenue Streams Description 

Investment Management and Fee 

Income 

Fees earned from the provision of investment and wealth management 

services 

Commissions 
Commissions earned on trading volume and by the retail distribution 

network from capital markets issuances 

Interest Spread earned on loans and cash balances 

Other 
Fees for providing insurance products, foreign exchange and other 

miscellaneous services 

 

Investment management and fee income is the largest and most consistent revenue stream and is driven by assets under 

administration.  It represented approximately 78% of the Wealth Management segment’s 2020 revenue. Fee revenue is highly 

correlated to equity market valuations, global economic conditions, and investor demand for wealth management services 

and solutions. 

Operations Clearing 

The Operations Clearing segment provides carrying broker services - including trade execution, clearing, settlement, custody, 

and certain other middle- and back-office services - to Richardson Wealth.  It also provides such services to Stifel Nicolaus 

Canada Inc. (Stifel), concurrent with the sale of its capital markets business to Stifel (the Sale Transaction).  This segment also 

includes the Company’s securities borrowing and lending business. 

Maintaining a wholly owned clearing business allows the Company to better control the quality of service provided to its 

advisors.  It also creates option value in the event that market conditions change, and it becomes attractive to provide these 

services to third parties. 

Corporate 

The Corporate segment is primarily comprised of corporate functions and public company costs.     

Business Highlights 

The Company made great strides in 2020, including: 

• Completed transformational acquisition of Richardson Wealth on October 20, 2020, focused exclusively on 

opportunities in dynamic and fast-growing wealth management industry; 

• Returned $79 million to shareholders since the beginning of 2019 via a substantial issuer bid, return of capital 

distribution and common and preferred dividends; 

• Retained, inspired, and aligned the interests of Richardson Wealth’s advisors (owners of approximately 31% of the 

Company) with the Company’s go-forward wealth management focused strategy; 
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• Strengthened its Board by adding two new independent directors, both of whom are high-caliber leaders with 

considerable financial and strategic acumen and organizational transformation expertise: 

o On January 21, 2021, the Company announced the appointment of Nathalie Bernier; and 

o On December 3, 2020, the Company announced the appointment of David Leith; 

• Reported record quarterly and annual investment management and fee income in Richardson Wealth, with this 

recurring revenue increasing to 78% of total revenue in 2020, up from 74% in 2019; 

• Grew assets under administration (AUA) by $2.9 billion since the beginning of 2019 to end of 2020 with $30.3 billion; 

• At the end 2020, net working capital stood at $88 million, after the $40 million SIB, $33 million in retention payments, 

$2 million in preferred dividends and $1.2 million in acquisition-related costs; 

• Entered into a strategic alliance with Cormark Securities Inc. that resulted in Richardson Wealth’s advisors and their 

clients having preferred access to Cormark’s industry-leading research and new investment issuances and ideas.  This 

led to a six-fold increase in the dollar value participation in the deals led by Cormark; 

• Broadened the Company’s wealth solution offerings in the healthcare sector by initiating a strategic alliance with 

Bloom Burton & Co.; and 

• Enhanced its management team by appointing Kish Kapoor as President and Chief Executive Officer and Tim Wilson 

as Chief Financial Officer. 
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2020 FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

Selected Financial Information 

Unless otherwise noted, all results in this MD&A, including the results of the Company’s Wealth Management, Operations 

Clearing and Corporate segments, reflect only continuing operations. 

 

n.m. = not meaningful 

Share of net (loss) income of associate reflects the Company’s share of Richardson Wealth’s net (loss) income attributable to common shareholders prior to 

the RGMP Transaction. 

 

2020 vs. 2019 2019 vs. 2018

($000’s, except as otherwise indicated) 2020 2019 2018

Revenues

Investment management and fee income 42,427 —  —   n.m. —  

Commissions 6,127 —  —   n.m. —  

Investment banking and principal transactions 1,742 3,984 5,588 (56) (49)

Interest 12,550 18,683 10,978 (33) 70

Other 21,273 14,172 14,665 50 (3)

84,119 36,840 31,231 128 18

Expenses

Variable advisor compensation 23,726 —  —   n.m. —  

Advisor loan amortization 3,490 —  —   n.m.  n.m. 

Employee compensation and benefits 23,674 14,241 12,764 66 12

Non-compensation expenses 35,208 30,694 26,756 15 15

Acquisition Costs 6,664 1,077 —   n.m.  n.m. 

Amortization of acquired intangibles 2,589 —  —  n.m. n.m.

95,351 46,012 39,520 107 16

Share of (loss) income of associate (2,365) 2,272 2,949 (204) (23)

Gain on investment in associate 45,734 —  —   n.m.  n.m. 

Income/(loss) before income taxes 32,137 (6,900) (5,340)  n.m. (29)

Net income (loss) from continuing operations 29,408 (13,710) (2,386)  n.m.  n.m. 

Net (loss) income from discontinued operation (661) (39,448) 4,931  n.m.  n.m. 

Net income (loss) 28,747 (53,158) 2,545  n.m.  n.m. 

Net income (loss) attributable to common 

shareholders from continuing operations
25,218 (18,111) (6,668)  n.m. (172)

Net income (loss) attributable to common 

shareholders
24,557 (57,559) (664)  n.m.  n.m. 

Net income (loss) per Common Share from 

continuing operations:

Basic  $          0.35  $      (0.26)  $       (0.10) 235 (160)

Diluted  $          0.27  $      (0.26)  $       (0.10) 204 (160)

Net income (loss) per Common Share

Basic  $          0.34  $      (0.82)  $       (0.03) 141  n.m. 

Diluted  $          0.26  $      (0.82)  $       (0.03) 132  n.m. 

Total assets 2,119,919 1,357,862 1,723,420 56 (21)

% increase/(decrease)
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Financial Performance 

2020 vs. 2019 

Continuing Operations 

Revenues 

Revenue from continuing operations of $84.1 million in 2020 was up 128% from the $36.8 million reported in 2019.  The 

increase was led largely by: 

• investment management and fee income and commissions in connection with the acquisition of Richardson Wealth.  

Consolidated financial results include 100% of Richardson Wealth’s operating results for the period October 20, 2020 

to December 31, 2020.  

• revenue in connection with providing carrying broker services to both Richardson Wealth (prior to October 20, 2020) 

and Stifel’s Canadian capital markets business; and 

• foreign exchange revenue.   

These increases were partly offset by lower interest revenue in connection with reduced activity in the stock borrowing and 

lending business and lower investment banking and principal transaction revenue.  2019 included $2.4 million in investment 

banking and principal transactions revenue in the former Emerging Markets business.  

Expenses 

Expenses were $95.4 million in 2020 compared with $46.0 million in 2019.  The increase was led largely by the consolidation 

of Richardson Wealth’s expenses following its acquisition on October 20, 2020, $5.6 million in higher Acquisition costs in 

2020 and $2.6 million in amortization of acquired intangible assets recorded in fourth quarter 2020.  

Net Income 

Net income from continuing operations was $29.6 million in 2020 compared with a net loss of $13.7 million in 2019.  The 

$43.3 million increase was due to several factors including: 

•  a $45.7 million accounting gain on investment in associate in connection with the RGMP Transaction; 

•  $4.1 million in lower tax expense which primarily reflects a non-cash deferred tax expense of $8.0 million recorded 

in 2019 relating to a write-down of deferred tax assets (income tax expense of $0.4 million recorded in first nine 

months 2020 largely in connection with Part VI.1 tax relating to dividends paid on the Company’s preferred shares 

compared with income tax expense of $3.8 million in first nine months 2019); and  

•  The inclusion of 100% of Richardson Wealth’s financial results for the period October 20, 2020 to December 31, 2020. 
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These increases were partly offset by: 

•  $5.6 million higher Acquisition Costs in 2020 ($6.7 million in 2020 compared with $1.1 million in 2019);  

•  $4.6 million decrease in the Company’s proportionate share of Richardson Wealth’s net loss from January 1, 2020 to 

October 19, 2020, largely driven by the Company’s proportionate share of Accelerated RSU Costs and retention 

payments incurred immediately prior to the closing of the RGMP Transaction; and 

•  $2.6 million ($1.9 million after-tax) in amortization expense for acquisition-related intangible assets (acquired in 

connection with RGMP Transaction).  

Discontinued Operations 

Discontinued Operation reflect substantially all the Company’s former capital markets business in 2019.  

For further information relating to Discontinued Operation, please refer to Note 9 to the 2020 Annual Financial Statements. 

Consolidated Results 

Net income in 2020 was $28.9 million compared with a net loss of $53.2 million in 2019.  The $82.1 million change was largely 

due to the $45.7 million gain on investment in associate in connection with the RGMP Transaction and a $38.8 million decrease 

in net loss from Discontinued Operation in 2020 compared with the same period a year ago.  Partly offsetting this increase was 

$5.6 million higher Acquisitions Costs recorded in 2020 relative to 2019. 
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SEGMENT RESULTS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 

The following section highlights the financial results of the Company’s three business segments, on a continuing basis, for 

2020 compared with 2019.  These segments are based upon the products and services provided and the types of customers 

served, and reflect the manner in, which financial information is evaluated by management. 

Wealth Management 

The following table sets forth an overview of the financial results of the Wealth Management segment for the periods presented 

and includes 100% of Richardson Wealth’s financial results from October 20, 2020 to December 31, 2020.  

 

1. Share of net (loss) income of associate represents the Company’s proportionate ownership of Richardson Wealth’s financial results from January 1, 2020 to October 19, 2020, during which time Richardson 

Wealth was considered an associate of the Company under IFRS.  Following the completion of the RGMP Transaction on October 20, 2020, Richardson Wealth became a wholly owned subsidiary of the 

Company.  

2. Represents the Company’s approximate 34.1% proportionate share of Accelerated RSU Costs recorded by Richardson Wealth prior to the completion of the RGMP Transaction. 

3. Considered to be a non-GAAP financial measure.  This measure does not have any standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP under IFRS and is therefore unlikely to be comparable to similar measures 

presented by other issuers.  This data should be read in conjunction with the “Non-GAAP Measures” section in this MD&A. 

Immediately prior to the RGMP Transaction, Richardson Wealth had 2.6 million RSUs outstanding, which were accelerated in 

connection with the closing of the RGMP Transaction.  This resulted in Richardson Wealth recording a one-time expense of 

$3.4 million related to the Accelerated RSU Costs.  Richardson Wealth also incurred $3.7 million in retention payments largely 

in connection with its Recognition Plan.  The Company’s non-controlling ownership interest in Richardson Wealth immediately 

prior to the RGMP Transaction was 34.1%, and the Company’s proportionate share of these $7.1 million costs is reflected in 

($000’s, except as otherwise indicated) 2020 2019

Revenues

Investment management and fee income 42,427 —   n.m. 

Commissions 6,127 —   n.m. 

Interest 2,096 —   n.m. 

Other income 5,934 2,384 149

56,584 2,384  n.m. 

Expenses

Variable advisor compensation 23,726 —  n.m.

Advisor loan amortization 3,490 —  

Employee compensation and benefits 12,469 —   n.m. 

Selling, general and administrative 9,595 61  n.m. 

Interest 886 —   n.m. 

Depreciation and amortization 2,608 —   n.m. 

52,774 61 864

Share of (loss) income of associate
1

(2,365) 2,272 (204)

Income before income taxes - reported 1,445 4,595 (69)

Adjusted:

RF Capital's proportionate share of accelerated RSU costs and retention payments
2

2,419 —   n.m. 

Income before income taxes - adjusted
3

3,864 4,595                  (16)

% increase/ 

(decrease)
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the Share of Net (loss)/income of associate on the Company’s income statement in the 2020 Annual Financial Statements and 

financial highlights table in this MD&A.    

Financial Performance 

2020 vs. 2019 

Wealth Management reported income before income taxes of $1.4 million in 2020 compared with income before income taxes 

of $4.6 million in 2019.  This decrease largely reflected a reduction in the Company’s proportionate share of Richardson 

Wealth’s net income/(loss) attributable to common shareholders. Partly offsetting this decrease was the consolidation of 

Richardson Wealth’s results commencing on October 20, 2020 for which no comparable period exists. Adjusting for the 

Company’s proportionate share of Accelerated RSU Costs and retention payments recorded by Richardson Wealth immediately 

prior to closing of the RGMP Transaction, income before income taxes was $3.9 million in 2020 compared with $4.6 million 

in 2019.  The decrease was led by lower dividends received on the Company’s preferred share investments in Richardson 

Wealth in connection with the completion of the RGMP Transaction. 

The increase in revenue and expenses was attributable to Richardson Wealth’s results being consolidated from October 20, 

2020 to December 31, 2020.  Preferred share dividends received on the Company’s preferred share investments in Richardson 

Wealth prior to the completion of the RGMP Transaction were $1.7 million and $2.4 million, respectively, in 2020 and 2019. 

Highlights: 

• Richardson Wealth generated record investment management and fee income. 

• AUA grew by $1.7 billion to $30.3 billion in 2020, an increase of 6% compared with 2019. 
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Supplemental Financial Information – Richardson Wealth 

The following table sets forth an overview of the consolidated financial results of Richardson Wealth for the periods indicated, 

on a 100% basis; noting, however, that Richardson Wealth became a wholly owned subsidiary on October 20, 2020 and its 

financial results are included in the Company’s financial results commencing on that date. 

 

  1. Considered to be a non-GAAP financial measure. This measure does not have any standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP under IFRS and is therefore unlikely to be 

comparable to similar measures presented by other issuers. 

($000, except as otherwise noted) 2020 2019
% Increase/      

(decrease)

Revenue

Commissions 30,552 30,402 —  

Investment management and fee income 208,464 201,575 3

Interest 14,382 25,471 (44)

Other 13,845 14,486 (4)

Principal transactions 732 348 110

267,975 272,282 (2)

Expenses

Variable advisor compensation 117,206 113,007 4

Advisor loan amortization 11,263 8,132 39

Employee compensation and benefits 62,290 60,657 3

Non-compensation expenses 67,263 73,013 (8)

Accelerated RSU costs and retention payments 7,094 —   n.m. 

265,116 254,809 4

Income before income tax 2,859 17,473 (84)

Net (loss) income - reported (3,263) 11,294 (129)

Pre-tax impact of adjusting items

   Interest 6,137 8,095 (24)

   Income tax 6,122 6,179 (1)

   Depreciation and amortization 12,137 13,127 (8)

   Transition assistance loan amortization 11,263 8,132 39

EBITDA
1 32,396 46,827 (31)

   Share-based compensation 3,999 3,431 17

   Accelerated RSU costs and retention payments 7,094 —  n.m.

Adjusted EBITDA
1 43,489 50,258 (13)

Number of advisory teams 162 162 —  

AUA
1
 at period-end ($ millions) 30,320 28,564 6
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Operations Clearing 

The following table shows the financial results of the Operations Clearing segment for the periods presented. 

 

Financial Performance 

2020 vs. 2019 

Operations Clearing reported income before income taxes of $3.2 million in 2020 compared with a loss before income taxes of 

$2.2 million in 2019. 

Revenues 

Revenue in 2020 was $27.5 million; down 14% from $32.0 million recorded in 2019. The decrease was led largely by lower 

interest revenue in connection with reduced activity in the stock borrowing and lending business, with a commensurate offset 

in interest expense.  Partly offsetting this decrease was: 

• higher volume of carrying broker services provided to both Richardson Wealth, as well as Stifel’s Canadian capital 

markets business, following the completion of the Sale Transaction;  

• Unrealized gains on principal transactions; and 

• higher foreign exchange revenue compared with the same period a year ago.   

Expenses 

Expenses of $24.3 million in 2020 were 29% lower than the $34.2 million recorded in 2019.  The decrease was largely due to 

a 49% decrease in interest expense in 2020 compared with 2019 in connection with reduced activity in the stock borrowing 

and lending business (largely offset by lower other revenue) and a 14% decrease in selling, general and administrative expense 

compared with 2019.  

 

 

 

 

($000’s) 2020 2019

Revenues 27,546            32,031                  (14)

Expenses

Employee compensation and benefits 6,381 6,921 (8)

Selling, general and administrative 10,386 12,015 (14)

Interest 7,003 13,716 (49)

Depreciation and amortization 541 1,557 (65)

24,311 34,209 (29)

Income (loss) before income taxes 3,235 (2,178) 249

% increase/ 

(decrease)
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Corporate 

The Corporate segment primarily comprises corporate functions and public company costs.   

The following table sets forth the financial results for the Corporate segment for the periods presented. 

 

n.m. = not meaningful 

1. Considered to be a non-GAAP financial measure. This measure does not have any standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP under IFRS and is therefore unlikely to be comparable 

to similar measures presented by other issuers.  Most of the revenue in the Corporate segment reflects the Company’s former Emerging Markets business that was not acquired in 

connection with the Sale Transaction.  

Financial Performance 

2020 vs. 2019 

Corporate reported income before income taxes of $27.5 million in 2020 compared with a loss before income taxes of $9.3 

million in 2019.  The change was largely due to a $45.7 million accounting gain on investment in associate in connection with 

the completion of the RGMP Transaction.  On an adjusted basis, loss before income taxes was $9.0 million in 2020 compared 

with $6.3 million in 2019. 

Revenues 

Revenues in 2020 decreased $2.4 million compared with 2019.  2019 revenue includes $2.4 million in investment banking and 

principal transactions revenue in the former Emerging Markets business.  

($000’s) 2020 2019

Revenues (11) 2,425 (100)

Expenses

Employee compensation and benefits 4,824 7,320 (34)

Non-compensation expenses 4,189 3,345 25

Acquisition Costs 6,664 1,077 519

Amortization of acquired intangibles 2,589 —   n.m. 

18,266             11,742 56

Gain on investment in associate             45,734 —   n.m. 

Income (loss) before income taxes - reported 27,457             (9,317)  n.m. 

Pre-tax impact of adjusting items:

Gain on investment in associate (45,734) —  n.m.

Acquisition Costs 6,664 1,077             n.m.

Amortization of acquired intangibles 2,589 —  n.m.

Restructuring charge —  1,975             n.m.

Loss before income taxes - adjusted
1 (9,024) (6,265) (44)

% increase/ 

(decrease)
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Expenses of 18.3 million in 2020 increased 56% compared with 2019.  The increase was led largely by $6.7 million in 

Acquisition Costs and $2.6 million in amortization expense for acquisition-related intangible assets.   2019 Acquisition Costs 

were $1.1 million.  Partly offsetting this increase was lower variable compensation in the former Emerging Markets business, 

which was commensurate with lower revenue generation in that business. Excluding adjusting items, expenses were $9.0 

million in 2020 compared with $8.7 million in 2019. 

QUARTERLY RESULTS 

The following table provides selected quarterly financial information for the eight most recently completed financial quarters 

ended on or before December 31, 2020. Quarter-to-quarter comparisons of financial results are not necessarily meaningful and 

should not be relied upon as indications of future performance. Revenue from the Company’s wealth management business, 

given its high percentage of fee-based revenue, is more recurring and predictable in nature.  Commencing October 20, 2020, 

the Company’s performance includes the results of the acquired Richardson Wealth business, and as such, most of the 

Company’s revenues and expenses from continuing operations will be generated by the Wealth Management segment.  

 

Quarterly Trend and Analysis 

Specified Items Affecting Reported Results from Continuing Operations 

Management believes highlighting these items is necessary to present a fair statement of the results from continuing operations 

for the periods presented. Acquisition Costs in connection with the RGMP Transaction affected quarterly expenses.  These costs 

were as follows:  

 

 

($000’s, except as otherwise indicated) Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Revenues

Investment management and fee income 42,427 —  —  —  —  —  —  —  

Commissions 6,127 —  —  —  —  —  —  —  

Investment banking and principal transactions —  —  —  —  533 999 1,527 926

Interest 4,271 2,463 2,177 3,639 4,575 6,360 4,007 3,741

Other income 7,890 5,043 4,893 5,189 3,259 3,199 3,203 4,513

60,715 7,506 7,070 8,828 8,367 10,558 8,737 9,180

Expenses 62,563 12,846 8,566 11,376 11,248 14,220 10,383 10,162

Share of loss of associate (1,591) (415) (473) 114 603 587 137 945

Gain on investment in associate 45,734 —  —  —  —  —  —  —  

Income (loss) before income taxes from continuing 

operations
42,295 (5,755) (1,969) (2,434) (2,278) (3,075) (1,509) (37)

Net income (loss) from continuing operations 39,992 (5,760) (1,787) (3,037) (5,288) (8,123) (464) 165

Net (loss) income from discontinued operation —  (217) (564) 120 (3,175) (17,284) (3,345) (15,645)

Net income (loss) 39,992 (5,977) (2,351) (2,917) (8,463) (25,407) (3,809) (15,480)

Net income (loss) per Common Share from continuing 

operations:

Basic 0.52          (0.08)         (0.04)         (0.06)        (0.09)         (0.13)         (0.02)        (0.01)          

Diluted 0.26          (0.08)         (0.04)         (0.06)        (0.09)         (0.13)         (0.02)        (0.01)          

Net income (loss) per Common Share from continuing 

operations:

Basic 0.52          (0.08)         (0.05)         (0.06)        (0.13)         (0.38)         (0.07)        (0.23)          

Diluted 0.26          (0.08)         (0.05)         (0.06)        (0.13)         (0.38)         (0.07)        (0.23)          

2020 2019

($ millions) Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Acquisition Costs 1.2 3.9 —  1.6 1.1 —  —  —  

2020 2019
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Other notable items affecting quarterly results include: 

•  Fourth quarter 2020 includes $2.6 million in amortization expense for acquisition-related intangible assets. 

•  First quarter 2020 and fourth quarter 2019 include a $0.5 million and $1.8 million tax expense, respectively, in connection 

with Part VI.1 tax relating to the Company’s preferred shares outstanding. 

•  Third quarter 2019 included a non-cash deferred tax expense of $8.0 million relating to a write-down of deferred tax assets 

and included $2.0 million in restructuring charges recorded in the Corporate segment. 

Interest revenue in the Operations Clearing segment has generally benefited from increased stock borrowing and lending 

activity in 2019 and first quarter of 2020.  Other revenue largely reflects carrying broker and administrative support fees charged 

largely to Richardson Wealth, and commencing on December 6, 2019, to Stifel.   

Total expenses over the past five quarters reflect charges incurred in connection with acquisition of Richardson Wealth on 

October 20, 2020.  Commencing December 6, 2019, expenses also reflect incremental trade clearing and settlement costs in 

connection with providing carrying broker services to Stifel's Canadian capital markets business (offset by a commensurate 

increase in other revenue).  The gain on investment in associate is also in connection with the RGMP Transaction. 

Share of net (loss) income of associate reflects the Company’s share of Richardson Wealth's net income (loss) attributable to 

common shareholders prior to the completion of the RGMP Transaction. 

FOURTH QUARTER 2020 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FROM                          

CONTINUING OPERATIONS 

Fourth quarter 2020 results include the financial results of Richardson Wealth from October 20, 2020 to December 31, 2020 

following the acquisition of that business.   

Fourth Quarter 2020 vs. Fourth Quarter 2019 

Net income was $40.0 million in fourth quarter 2020 compared with a net loss of $5.3 million in the same period a year ago. 

The $45.3 million change was largely due to the $45.7 million accounting gain on investment in associate in connection with 

the RGMP Transaction and the inclusion of 100% of Richardson Wealth’s results commencing on October 20, 2020.  The 

Company’s share of net loss of associate in fourth quarter 2020 was led largely by the Company’s proportionate share of the 

$4.1 million in Accelerated RSU Costs and retention payments recorded by Richardson Wealth in fourth quarter 2020 

immediately prior to the closing of the RGMP Transaction.      

Revenues 

Revenue was $60.7 million in fourth quarter 2020 compared with $8.4 million in fourth quarter 2019.  The increase largely 

reflects the inclusion of Richardson Wealth’s results from October 20, 2020 to December 31, 2020.  

Highlights (Richardson Wealth 100% basis): 

• Generated record investment management and fee income in fourth quarter 2020.   

• Fee-based revenue was 78% of total revenue in fourth quarter 2020. 
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Expenses 

Expenses were $62.6 million in fourth quarter 2020 compared with $11.3 million in fourth quarter 2019.  The increase largely 

reflects Richardson Wealth’s expenses which we commenced consolidating on October 20, 2020.   

Highlights: 

• Acquisition Costs were $1.2 million in fourth quarter 2020 compared with $1.1 million recorded in fourth quarter 

2019; and 

• Amortization expense for acquisition-related intangible assets added $2.6 million expenses in fourth quarter 2020. 

FINANCIAL CONDITION 

The table below sets forth select consolidated balance sheet items as at the dates presented and is followed by a discussion of 

the change in these balances from December 31, 2019 to December 31, 2020.   

 

n.m. – not meaningful 

Total assets increased $762.1 million or 56% in 2020. The increase primarily relates to the recognition of goodwill and 

intangible assets and deferred tax assets in connection with the RGMP Transaction.  Also contributing to the increase were 

higher client and broker receivables, higher other assets which reflect an increase in funds deposited in trust and higher cash 

and cash equivalents. Partly offsetting these increases was an $82.9 million decrease in investment in associate in connection 

with the RGMP Transaction.  

The receivable from clients balance as at December 31, 2020, included loans receivable from clients of $381.6 million 

(December 31, 2019 - $192.7 million) and open security transactions of $73.6 million (December 31, 2019 - $63.3 million). 

The level of open security transactions pending settlement with clients may fluctuate significantly on a day-to-day basis based 

on client trading activity and the balance represents the level of unsettled transactions outstanding. 

For the year ended December 31,

($000's) 2020 2019 $ %

TOTAL ASSETS 2,119,919         1,357,862     762,057     56           

Selected asset balances:

Cash and cash equivalents 556,245 516,601 39,644 8

Receivable from:

Clients 455,166 256,075 199,091 78

Brokers 128,273 67,876 60,397 89

Client funds held in trust 409,648 348,553 61,095 18

Investment in associate —  82,853 (82,853) n.m.

Deferred tax assets 22,524 —  22,524 n.m.

Promissory note receivable 2,754 2,754 —  —  

Goodwill and intangible assets 356,881 —  356,881 n.m.

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,740,056         1,155,002     585,054     51           

Selected liability balances:

Payable to:

Clients 1,183,572 958,354 225,218 24

Brokers 264,857 124,308 140,549 113

Promissory note 14,826 15,603 (777) (5)

Long-term debt 97,422 —  97,422 n.m.

Increase/(decrease)
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Total liabilities increased $584.4 million or 51% in 2020 compared with December 31, 2019. Amounts payable to clients 

increased 24% compared with the prior year while amounts payable to brokers increased 113%.  As at December 31, 2020, 

amounts payable to clients included client deposits of $1.1 billion (December 31, 2019 - $0.9 billion) and open security 

transactions of $0.1 billion (December 31, 2019 - $0.1 billion).  

The Company’s long-term debt is comprised of long-term bank debt of $67.0 million held at Richardson Wealth and includes 

$30.4 million preferred share liability in connection with Richardson Financial Group Limited’s preferred share ownership in 

Richardson Wealth.  The Company also has promissory notes payable to former shareholders of FirstEnergy in the amount of 

$14.8 million.  These notes are, in part, offset by promissory notes receivable from Stifel in the amount of $2.8 million, for a 

net amount of $12.1 million as at December 31, 2020.  Both the promissory notes payable and receivable are due in September 

2021, previously classified as non-current.  For further information on promissory notes please see Note 18 to the 2020 Annual 

Financial Statements. 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

The Company requires capital and liquidity to fund existing and future operations, future cash payments to shareholders and to 

satisfy regulatory requirements. The Company’s policy is to maintain sufficient and appropriate levels of capital and liquidity 

through a variety of sources, at a reasonable cost. This serves to maintain balance sheet strength under normal market conditions 

and through periods of financial stress. Capital and balance sheet strength are always key priorities for the Company. 

The Company currently derives liquidity from its working capital, its credit facilities and long-term debt. As at December 31, 

2020, the Company had credit facilities with Canadian Schedule I banks of $651.8 million (December 31, 2019 - $707.5 

million) that it may use to facilitate the day-to-day securities settlement process primarily for client transactions. These facilities 

are collateralized by either unpaid client securities and/or securities owned and do not represent a source of cash to the Company 

for payment of dividends or funding of business initiatives. There were no amounts outstanding under these facilities as at 

December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019. 

The Company holds its cash and cash equivalent balances with several financial institutions with high credit ratings. All cash 

and cash equivalent balances are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash.  

The Company considers Canadian federal government debt (such as treasury bills) with original maturities from three to six 

months as highly liquid investments.  Although these securities are not classified as cash equivalents on the consolidated 

balance sheets, they form an important part of the Company’s overall cash management practices to address liquidity risk. 

There were no significant changes made to the Company’s cash management practices during 2020. The Company’s inventory 

of trading assets is recorded at market value. Receivables and payables from brokers and dealers represent open transactions 

which generally settle within the normal two-day settlement cycle and include collateralized securities borrow and/or lend 

transactions that can be closed on demand within a few days. Client receivables are secured by securities and are reviewed on 

an ongoing basis for impairment in value and collectability. 

Management believes the Company’s working capital provides it with an appropriate level of liquidity and capital for existing 

operating and regulatory purposes for the reasonably foreseeable future assuming no significant adverse changes in the markets 

in which the Company operates. The Company continually assesses its dividend policy, initiatives, and expense structure. If 

equity markets deteriorate, adversely impacting the Company’s ability to generate cash flow, the Company will need to assess 

and potentially make changes to its initiatives, and expense structure. The Company may also seek borrowings and/or equity 

financing to maintain or increase its productive capacity. There can be no assurance that such borrowings and/or equity 

financing will be available to the Company or available on terms and in an amount sufficient to meet its needs. 
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Subordinated Loan 

($000's) 2020 2019

Syndicate of schedule I and II chartered banks 67,000 71,000  

The subordinated loan bears interest at the prime rate plus 2.5%. The subordinated loan is unsecured and subject to regular 

scheduled repayment dates.  The subordinated loans have financial tests and other covenants with which the Company complied 

throughout the year and at December 31, 2020.  

On March 20, 2020, the Company provided written notice to terminate its $17.5 million committed standby subordinated loan 

facility, that was scheduled to mature on October 25, 2020. This facility was formally terminated by the Company on                   

July 1, 2020.   The facility was undrawn for the period from January 1, 2020 until its termination on July 1, 2020 and was also 

undrawn at December 31, 2019. 

Subsidiary Capital Requirements 

Certain of the Company’s subsidiaries are subject to regulatory capital requirements designed to provide notice to the relevant 

regulatory authority of possible liquidity concerns. Regulatory capital levels fluctuate daily based on margin requirements in 

respect of outstanding trades and/or working capital requirements. Compliance with these requirements may require the 

Company to keep sufficient cash and other liquid assets on hand to maintain regulatory capital requirements rather than using 

these liquid assets in connection with its business or paying them out in the form of a cash dividend. During 2020 and as at 

December 31, 2020, the relevant subsidiaries were in compliance with all regulatory capital requirements. 

Cash Flow Summary 

 

Operating Activities 

Cash provided by operating activities was $5.4 million in 2020 compared with $2.8 million in 2019. Excluding non-cash 

operating items, cash used by operations was $5.5 million in 2020 compared with $39.6 million in 2019.  For further detail on 

non-cash operating items, please refer to Note 29 of the 2020 Annual Financial Statements. 

Financing Activities 

Financing activities consumed $50.0 million and $41.6 million of cash in 2020 and 2019, respectively.  Financing activities in 

2020 largely include $40 million used to purchase and cancel common shares under the Company’s SIB.  Cash used to pay 

dividends on Common and Preferred Shares was $6.1 million and $11.9 million in 2020 and 2019, respectively.  Principal 

elements of lease payment obligations consumed $3.1 million and $2.0 million in 2020 and 2019, respectively.  

For the year ended December 31,

($000's) 2020 2019

Operating activities 5,383 2,830

Financing activities (49,998) (41,626)

Investing activities 83,894 37,880

Effect of foreign exchange on cash balances 365 (207)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 39,644 (1,123)         
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2019 uses of cash included $20.7 million in one-time return of capital distribution in connection with the Sale Transaction and 

$6.8 million in connection with the partial payment of the promissory note payable to former FirstEnergy shareholders. 

Investing Activities 

Cash provided by investing activities was $83.9 million in 2020 compared with $37.9 million in 2019.  The increase was led 

largely by $87.5 million in cash acquired as part of the RGMP Transaction partly offset by $2.3 million in equipment and 

leasehold improvements and $1.9 million equity investment made in Richardson Wealth prior to the RGMP Transaction.  2019 

investing activities provided $37.9 million of cash largely due to $42.2 million in proceeds from the sale of the Company’s 

former capital markets businesses and common share dividends of $2.7 million received on the Company’s equity investment 

in Richardson Wealth.  These amounts were partly offset by an additional $4.4 million equity investment made in Richardson 

Wealth and $2.7 million in equipment and leasehold improvements. 

OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA AND DIVIDENDS 

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Common Shares.  The Company is also authorized to issue an 

unlimited number of preferred shares (other than the Series A Preferred Shares, Series B Preferred Shares and Series C Preferred 

Shares), issuable at any time and from time to time in one or more series. 

The following table shows the Company’s outstanding common and preferred shares as of the dates presented. 

 

1. Includes 1,272 Common Shares held by the Company’s share incentive plan trust. 

Common Shares 

Issuance in Connection with RGMP Transaction 

In connection with the completion of the RGMP Transaction, the Company issued 100,517,533 Common Shares to former 

Richardson GMP shareholders at closing, with 10% of the Issuance being freely tradeable shortly after closing and the 

remaining 90% being held in escrow and  to be released in equal amounts on the first three anniversaries following closing.   

Substantial Issuer Bid 

In November 2020, the Company purchased for cancellation 16,528,926 Common Shares under its SIB at the purchase price 

of $2.42 per Common Share for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $40 million.   Under the terms of the SIB, RFGL 

agreed not to participate in the SIB and no shares issued under the RGMP Transaction were entitled to participate in the SIB.  

Accordingly, the full $40 million under the SIB was paid to the Company’s minority Common Shareholders.   

For more information, refer to Note 21 to the 2020 Annual Financial Statements. 

For the year ended December 31,

(#) 2020 2019

Common Shares
1 159,380 75,434

Series B Preferred Shares 3,565 3,565

Series C Preferred Shares 1,035 1,035
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Preferred Shares 

Redemption Election 

On February 25, 2021, pursuant to the terms of the Series B and Series C Preferred Shares, the Company announced that it did 

not intend to exercise its right to redeem all or any part of the 3.6 million Series B Preferred Shares and 1.0 million Series C 

Preferred Shares then outstanding.  

Dividends 

The declaration and payment of dividends are at the sole discretion of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors reviews 

the Company’s dividend policy periodically in the context of the firm's overall profitability, alternative uses of capital, free 

cash flow, regulatory capital requirements, legal requirements and other such factors that the Board of Directors determines to 

be relevant.  

For more information on dividends, refer to Note 20 to the 2020 Annual Financial Statements. 

Common Shares 

On April 29, 2020, in response to the disruption caused by COVID-19, the Company’s board of directors decided to suspend 

the Company's quarterly common share cash dividend.  The decision was made to exercise caution and maintain a conservative 

approach to capital and risk management.  

Preferred Shares 

On October 20, 2020, immediately following the closing of the RGMP Transaction, the Board approved the resumption of the 

Company’s quarterly dividend on its preferred shares (which had previously been temporarily suspended in third quarter 2020) 

commencing with the payment of accrued but unpaid dividends of $0.2257 per Cumulative 5-Year Rate Reset Preferred Share, 

Series B, and $0.193803 per Cumulative Floating Rate Preferred Shares, Series C, payable on November 16, 2020, to preferred 

shareholders of record on October 30, 2020.  These amounts represent the dividend that would normally have been paid on 

September 30, 2020.  

For more information on dividends, refer to Note 20 to the 2020 Annual Financial Statements. 

Return of Capital 

On December 6, 2019, the Board of Directors approved a one-time return of capital distribution in the amount of $0.275 per 

common share (or $20.7 million in aggregate), paid on December 31, 2019, to common shareholders of record on December 

16, 2019.  

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

The Company’s related parties include the following persons and/or entities: associates, or entities which are controlled or 

significantly influenced by the Company, which currently include Richardson Wealth; and key management personnel, which 

are comprised of directors and/or officers of the Company, Richardson Wealth investment advisors, and those persons having 

authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company. Other than the completion of 

the RGMP Transaction, the nature of the Company’s related-party transactions have not changed materially since December 31, 

2019, as described under "Related-Party Transactions" in the 2019 Annual MD&A. 
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Related party transactions include amounts due from and deposits with the Company’s carrying broker, the latter pursuant to 

the terms of the introducing/carrying broker arrangement between Richardson Wealth and RF Securities Clearing LP.  

The RGMP Transaction constituted a “related party transaction” under Multilateral Instrument 61-101 – Protection of Minority 

Security Holders in Special Transactions (MI 61-101) due to RFGL’s ownership of approximately 24.1% of the Company 

common shares and the voting rights attached to those shares, and approximately one-third ownership of Richardson Wealth.  

In July 2019, an independent special committee of the Board, (the Special Committee) retained RBC Capital Markets (RBC) 

on a fixed fee basis to provide an independent formal valuation of both the Company and Richardson Wealth common shares 

pursuant to the requirements of MI 61-101. RBC also provided its opinion as to the fairness of the RGMP Transaction.  

All minority shareholder approvals required in accordance with MI 61-101 and the rules of the Toronto Stock Exchange were 

obtained in connection with the RGMP Transaction.  For further information on the aggregate number of the Company common 

shares excluded from the calculation of the requisite approval of the RGMP Transaction Resolution in accordance with the 

minority approval requirements under MI 61-101, please refer to the Company’s management information circular date 

September 8, 2020.  

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES 

The preparation of the 2020 Annual Financial Statements in accordance with IFRS required management to make estimates 

and exercise judgment that affected reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 

reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. These estimates and judgments were made based on 

information available as at the date of issuance of financial statements. Accordingly, actual results may differ from these 

amounts. Accounting policies that require management's estimates and judgments are discussed below.  

Goodwill 

Goodwill and intangibles were acquired through the acquisition of Richardson Wealth.  Goodwill is tested for impairment 

annually and more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that impairment may have occurred. The impairment test 

resulted in no change to the carrying value of the Company’s goodwill.  

As at December 31, 2020, the carrying value of goodwill and intangible assets was $356.9 million.  

For further details regarding goodwill, please refer to Note 14 to the 2020 Annual Financial Statements.  

Income Taxes 

The Company computes an income tax provision in each of the tax jurisdictions in which it operates. Actual amounts of income 

tax expense only become final upon filing and acceptance of the tax return by the relevant tax authorities, which occurs after 

the issuance of the consolidated financial statements. Additionally, the estimation of income taxes includes evaluating the 

recoverability of deferred tax assets against future taxable income based on an assessment of the ability to use the underlying 

future tax deductions before they expire. The assessment is based upon existing tax laws and estimates of future taxable income. 

To the extent estimates of future taxable income differ from the tax return, earnings would be affected in a subsequent period. 

Share-Based Compensation 

The Company uses estimates and judgment when determining the share-based compensation expense recorded on awards to 

employees and investment advisors during a reporting period. The determination of the share-based compensation expense 

resulting from the Company’s granting of employee share options and other deferred share-based awards depends on the use 

of option pricing models, which by their nature are subject to measurement uncertainty. These models require the use of 
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subjective assumptions, including expected stock price volatility and the use of historical data that may not be reflective of 

future performance. 

Expected Credit Losses 

The Company uses the ECL model to address credit risk associated with client margin and advisor loans. ECLs are estimated 

based on detailed review of client margin and advisor loans.  A 12-month allowance for ECL is recognized at initial recognition, 

reflecting the portion of lifetime cash shortfalls that would result if a default occurs in the 12 months after the reporting date.  

A lifetime ECL allowance is recognized if a significant increase in credit risk is detected after initial recognition, reflecting a 

lifetime cash shortfall that would result over the expected life of a financial asset.     

Provisions 

The Company is involved in several legal proceedings, including regulatory investigations, in the ordinary course of business. 

Contingent litigation loss provisions are recorded by the Company when it is probable that the Company will incur a loss and 

the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.  Management and the Company’s external experts are involved in assessing 

the likelihood and in estimating any amounts involved. While there is inherent difficulty in predicting the outcome of such 

matters, based on current knowledge and consultation with legal counsel, the Company does not expect that the outcome of 

any of these matters, individually or in aggregate, would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial 

position or results of operations. 

Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 

Securities owned are measured at fair value through profit and loss requiring the use of judgment to estimate fair values when 

quoted market prices are not available. Where the market for a financial instrument is not active, fair value is established using 

a valuation technique. These valuation techniques involve a degree of estimation, the extent of which depends on the 

instrument’s complexity and the availability of market-based data. The Company’s securities owned include equity and debt 

securities and derivative financial assets which are comprised primarily of broker warrants. Most of the Company’s debt and 

equity securities and obligations related to securities sold short comprise or relate to actively traded securities, which are carried 

at fair value based on quoted market prices in an active market. Management believes its estimates of fair value are reasonable 

given its process for obtaining external market prices, consistent application of its approach from period to period and the 

validation of estimates through the actual settlement of transactions. Fair value is estimated based on pricing models or other 

appropriate methods. For further information regarding the fair value disclosure of the Company’s financial assets and financial 

liabilities, refer to Note 25 to the 2019 Annual Financial Statements. 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

A significant portion of the Company's assets and liabilities are composed of financial instruments.  There were no significant 

changes in the Company’s use of financial instruments, or types of financial instruments employed in its trading and non-

trading activities during 2020. 

Refer to Notes 1 and 13 to the 2020 Annual Financial Statements for more information. For significant assumptions made in 

determining the valuation of financial and other instruments, refer to the “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates” section 

in this MD&A. 

FUTURE CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES OR ESTIMATES 

The Company monitors continuously the potential changes proposed by the International Accounting Standards Board and 

analyzes the effect that changes in the standards may have on the Company.  For a summary of future changes in accounting 

policies or estimates, refer to Note 3 to the 2020 Annual Financial Statements.  
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CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

Management has designed disclosure controls and procedures to provide reasonable assurance that material information relating 

to the Company is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Interim Chief 

Financial Officer (CFO) to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure and to ensure that information required to 

be disclosed in the Company’s annual and interim filings and other reports filed or submitted under Canadian securities 

legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified therein. As of December 31, 

2020, management evaluated the effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures as defined under the Canadian Securities 

Administrators’ National Instrument 52-109 - Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings. This evaluation 

was performed under the supervision of, and with the participation of, the Company’s CEO and CFO. Based on the evaluation 

conducted as at December 31, 2020, the CEO and CFO concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were 

effective as of December 31, 2020. 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

Internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 

reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS.  Management is 

responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the Company. 

As of December 31, 2020, management evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting 

taking into account the nature and size of the Company’s business and using the framework and criteria established in the 

Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013), issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 

Commission.  Based on this evaluation, management concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting 

was effective as of December 31, 2020, and that there were no material weaknesses that have been identified in the Company’s 

internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020. 

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

To the best of the knowledge and belief of the Company’s CEO and CFO, no changes were made in the Company’s internal 

control over financial reporting in 2020 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to affect materially, the Company’s 

internal control over financial reporting. 

RISK MANAGEMENT 

Oversight and Monitoring 

The financial services industry is, by its nature, subject to numerous and substantial risks, particularly in volatile, uncertain, or 

illiquid markets. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to the Company, or that the Company currently 

considers immaterial, may also impair the operations of the Company and its subsidiaries. In many cases, risks which are 

inherent to the wealth management industry and the Company’s activities are beyond management’s control and are not easily 

detected or mitigated. If any such risks occur, the business, financial condition, or liquidity and results of operations of the 

Company could be materially adversely affected. Management believes that effective risk management is of primary 

importance to the ongoing success of the Company.  
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The Company and its subsidiaries have an evolving enterprise wide risk management process designed around Risk Principles, 

Risk Governance and Enterprise Risk Management to address eight core risks identified by the company.  

Risk Principles 

A robust governance framework ensures that risks impacting 

the business are identified, classified, assessed, and managed 

in the best interest of all stakeholders.  The Company seeks to 

monitor and control its risk exposure through a variety of 

separate but complementary financial, credit, operational, 

strategic, and legal and compliance processes. Segregation of 

duties and management oversight are fundamental elements of 

the Company’s risk management process.   

 

Risk Governance 

The Company’s Board and CEO are accountable to effectively 

identify areas of significant risk and are responsible for overall 

risk appetite and tolerance. Key risk metrics are reported 

regularly to the Board of Directors and the Company’s 

management committee. Risk Oversight ensures governance 

and risk management effectiveness.  

Enterprise Risk Management 

The Company’s views its approach to risk management as a key differentiator as it views effective risk management as an 

essential asset that creates opportunities to recapture and increase shareholder value, when managed proactively using 

qualitative and quantitative measures of evaluation. 

For a full description of the key risks facing the Company, please see Note 26 “Financial Risk Management” to the 2020 

Annual Financial Statements and “Risk Factors” in the Company’s AIF dated March 4, 2021, which can be found under the 

Company’s profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.  

RISK FACTORS 

An investment in securities of the Company involves a number of risks.  These risks and uncertainties are not the only ones 

facing the Company. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to the Company, or that the Company currently 

considers immaterial, may also impair the operations of the Company.  

For a further description of risk factors associated with the Company, refer to the “Risk Factors” section of the Company’s AIF 

dated March 4, 2021 and the Information Circular, which are both available under the Company’s profile on SEDAR at 

www.sedar.com.   
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MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING  
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of RF Capital Group Inc. (the Company), were prepared 
by management, who are responsible for the integrity and fairness of all information presented in the 
consolidated financial statements and management's discussion and analysis (MD&A) for the year ended 
December 31, 2020. The consolidated financial statements were prepared by management in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards. Financial information presented in the MD&A is consistent with 
these consolidated financial statements.   
 
In management's opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared within reasonable 
limits of materiality and within the framework of the basis of preparation and significant accounting policies 
summarized in Notes 2 and 3, respectively, of the consolidated financial statements. Management maintains a 
system of internal controls to meet its responsibilities for the integrity of the consolidated financial statements.   
 
The board of directors of the Company (Board of Directors) oversees management’s responsibilities for 
financial reporting through the Company’s audit committee (Audit Committee), which is composed entirely of 
independent directors. Among other things, the mandate of the Audit Committee includes the review of the 
consolidated financial statements of the Company on a quarterly basis, advising the Board of Directors on 
auditing matters and financial reporting issues and recommending the consolidated financial statements to the 
Board of Directors for approval. The Audit Committee has full access to management and the auditors to 
review their activities and to discuss the external audit program, internal controls, accounting policies and 
financial reporting matters.  
 
Ernst & Young LLP performed an independent audit of the consolidated financial statements, as outlined in the 
auditors' report contained herein. Ernst & Young LLP had, and has, full and unrestricted access to management 
of the Company, the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors to discuss their audit and related findings 
and have the right to request a meeting in the absence of management at any time.  

 

 

“Kishore Kapoor”  
 
KISHORE KAPOOR  
President and Chief Executive Officer  
 
Toronto, Canada  
March 4, 2021 

“Benjamin Scholten”  
 
BENJAMIN SCHOLTEN 
Interim Chief Financial Officer  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Shareholders of RF Capital Group Inc. 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of RF Capital Group Inc. and its subsidiaries (the Company), 
which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2020 and 2019 and the consolidated statements 
of income (loss), consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss), consolidated statements of changes in 
equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2020 and 2019, and its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs).  
 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that 
are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the year ended December 31, 2020. These matters were addressed in the context 
of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the 
matter is provided in that context.  
 
We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the 
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address 
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 
 

 Restructuring and legal provisions 
Key audit matter As more fully described in Note 22 of the consolidated financial statements, the Company has 

recognized $19.4 million in restructuring and legal provisions included within Other Liabilities. 
The restructuring and legal provisions are related to legal claims as a result of the sale of the 
capital markets business in December 2019 and various other legal matters. 

We identified restructuring and legal provisions as a key audit matter because of the materiality 
of the balance and the judgment required by the Company’s management in estimating the 
likelihood of being liable and the potential amount of loss. This in turn led to a high degree of 
auditor judgment and effort in evaluating management’s assessment of the provisions. 

 

How our audit 
addressed the            
key audit matter 

To test the reasonableness of these provisions, we performed the following procedures, among 
others:  

- Assessed the methodology used to estimate the provisions, including obtaining and 
inspecting supporting contracts, agreements and documentation related to the 
constructive and legal obligations associated with the restructuring and legal 
provisions, and obtaining a representation letter from management;  
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- Performed inquiries with various members of management and internal legal counsel 
regarding the nature of the obligations, likelihood of liability for the Company and 
measurement of the provisions, and performed inquiries with external counsel in 
accordance with the Canadian Bar Association/Chartered Professional Accountants 
Canada December 2016 Joint Policy Statement; and  

- Evaluated the adequacy and completeness of information presented in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements based on the IFRS requirements. 

 

 Business combination 
Key audit matter On October 20, 2020, the Company acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding common 

shares of Richardson GMP Limited (renamed Richardson Wealth Limited) as detailed in Note 
8 of the consolidated financial statements for an aggregate purchase consideration of $323.2 
million. The transaction was accounted for as a business combination in accordance with IFRS 
3. The Company applied valuation techniques to determine the preliminary acquisition date fair 
value of identifiable assets and liabilities. 

The preliminary valuation of customer relationship intangible assets acquired in a business 
combination was identified as a key audit matter. The preliminary fair value of the customer 
relationship intangible assets is determined in reference to inputs including estimated customer 
attrition, discount rates, projected period, projected revenues and forecasted gross profit. The 
estimation of these valuation inputs utilized in establishing the fair value of these intangible 
assets require considerable judgment, and these inputs can have a material effect on the values 
ascribed. As a result, significant judgement and specialized skills were required to assess 
management’s conclusions. 

 

How our audit 
addressed the            
key audit matter 

To assess the valuation of customer relationship intangibles, we performed the following 
procedures with the assistance of our valuation specialists, among others:  

- Assessed the appropriateness of the methodology and model used to estimate preliminary 

fair value; 

- Tested the mathematical accuracy of the calculation used by the Company; 

- Tested the accuracy and completeness of data used to determine key assumptions used in 

the preliminary fair value estimate by comparing the data against the Company’s historical 

revenue, gross profit and attrition data. Obtained and inspected data related to customer 

relationships and corroborated, through inquiry of management, the reasonableness of the 

data and assumptions underlying the preliminary estimate; 

- Evaluated management’s preliminary fair value estimate for customer relationship 

intangible assets including assessing reasonableness of the projected period, forecasted 

revenues, forecasted gross profit, attrition rate and discount rate by comparing to peer and 

industry data for similar transactions; 

- Compared the earnings multiple implied by the purchase price and earnings forecast to 

comparable transactions to evaluate the earnings forecasts used;  

- Sensitized the discount rate and attrition rate applied to the forecast to assess the impact on 

the preliminary fair value ascribed;  

- Reviewed the reasonability of the discount rates used to value the intangible assets by 

comparing the discount rates to the internal rate of return;  

- Benchmarked the allocation of the purchase price discrepancy to transactions of similar 

businesses; and 
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 - Evaluated the adequacy and completeness of information presented in the notes to the 

consolidated financial statements based on the IFRS requirements. 
 

Other information  

Other information consists of the information included in the Annual Report other than the consolidated financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. We obtained Management’s Discussion & Analysis prior to the date of 
our audit report, and we expect to obtain the Annual Report after the date of our auditor’s report. Management is 
responsible for the other information. 
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information, 
and in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 
If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of the auditor’s report, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We 
have nothing to report in this regard.  
 
Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 



 2020 7  

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible 
for our audit opinion. 
 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit. 
 
We provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our 
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication.  
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Humayun Jafrani. 
 

 
Chartered Professional Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants 
 
Toronto, Canada 
March 4, 2021 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

 

See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
 

 

  "Kishore Kapoor"     "Donald Wright" 

   
  Kishore Kapoor     Donald A. Wright 
  President and Chief Executive Officer                   Chair of the Board 

($ Thousands)

As at December 31 Note 2020 2019

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 556,245 516,601

Securities owned 5 70,322 65,441

Receivable from:

Clients 455,166 256,075

Brokers 128,273 67,876

Employee and other loans receivable 11 67,475 1,903

Other assets 6 12,810 13,970

Client funds held in trust 409,648 348,553

Promissory note receivable 18 2,754 2,754

Investment in associate — 82,853

Equipment and leasehold improvements 12 13,587 364

Right-of-use assets 13 24,234 1,472

Deferred tax assets 19 22,524 — 

Goodwill and intangible assets 14 356,881 — 

2,119,919 1,357,862

LIABILITIES

Obligations related to securities sold short 5 15,320 11,399

Lease liabilities 25,414 3,603

Payable to:

Clients 1,183,572 958,354

Brokers 264,857 124,308

Issuer 1,114 — 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 64,888 21,723

Other liabilities 17 21,522 20,012

Promissory note liability 18 14,826 15,603

Deferred tax liability 19 51,121 — 

Debt 27 97,422 — 

1,740,056 1,155,002

EQUITY

Shareholders' equity 379,863 202,860

2,119,919 1,357,862
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS) 

 

 See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Years ended December 31, Note 2020 2019

REVENUE

Commissions 6,127 — 

Investment management and fee income 42,427 — 

Investment banking and principal transactions 1,742 3,985

Interest 12,550 18,683

Other income 24 21,273 14,172

84,119 36,840

EXPENSES

Variable advisor compensation 23,726 — 

Advisor loan amortization 3,490 — 

Employee compensation and benefits 23,674 14,241 

Selling, general and administrative 23,439 15,439 

Acquisition related costs 6,664 1,077

Interest 8,616 13,705

Depreciation and amortization 5,742 1,550

95,351 46,012

Gain on investment in associate 8 45,734 — 

Share of net income (loss) of associate (2,365) 2,272

Income (loss) before income taxes from continuing operations
32,137 (6,900)

Income tax expense 19

Current 1,482 1,993

Deferred 1,247 4,817

2,729 6,810

Net income (loss) from continuing operations 29,408 (13,710)

Net (loss) from discontinued operation 9 (661) (39,448)

Net income (loss) 28,747 (53,158)

Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding            
(in thousands):

25

Basic 73,020 69,788

Diluted 93,798 75,446

Net income (loss) per common share (dollars) from continuing operations: 25

Basic 0.35 (0.26)

Diluted 0.27 (0.26)

Net income (loss) per common share (dollars): 25

Basic 0.34 (0.82)

Diluted 0.26 (0.82)

($ Thousands)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 

 

See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
 

($ Thousands)

Years ended December 31, 2020 2019

Net income (loss) 28,747 (53,158)

Other comprehensive income (loss):

Item that may be subsequently reclassified to net income (loss):

Foreign currency translation gain (loss) from continuing operations 365 (447)

Total other comprehensive income (loss) 365 (447)

Total comprehensive income (loss) 29,112 (53,605)

Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to shareholders

Continuing operations 29,773 (14,157)

Discontinued operation (661) (39,448)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

 

 See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

(Thousands)

Balance, December 31, 2018 4,600 112,263 72,721 322,848 (327) (14,598) 48,818 18,395 (197,369) 290,030

Change in accounting policy 1 —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (32) (32)

Restated balance at January 1, 2019 —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (197,401) 289,998

Net foreign currency translation loss —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (447) —  (447)

Reclassification of cumulative currency translation —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (9,661) —  (9,661)

Share-based compensation —  —  1,453 3,021 327 9,073 (3,545) —  —  8,876

Common shares purchased for cancellation —  —  (12) (59) —  —  —  —  —  (59)

Common share return of capital distribution —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (20,744) (20,744)

Common share dividends —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (7,544) (7,544)

Series B Preferred Share dividends —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (3,219) (3,219)

Series C Preferred Share dividends —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (1,182) (1,182)

Net loss —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (53,158) (53,158)

Balance, December 31, 2019 4,600 112,263 74,162 325,810 — (5,525) 45,273 8,287 (283,248) 202,860

Net foreign currency translation gain —  —  —  —  —  —  —  365 —  365

Share-based compensation —  —  —  —  —  5,525 (5,513) —  (44) (32)

Common shares purchased through substantial issuer bid —  —  (16,529) (49,178) —  —  —  9,178 —  (40,000)

Common shares issued for RGMP Transaction —  —  100,518 193,999 —  —  —  —  —  193,999

Common shares forfeited —  —  (43) (216) —  —  216 —  —  — 

Common share dividends —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (1,886) (1,886)

Series B Preferred Share dividends —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (3,220) (3,220)

Series C Preferred Share dividends —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (970) (970)

Net income —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  28,747 28,747

Balance, December 31, 2020 4,600 112,263 158,108 470,415 —  —  39,976 17,830 (260,621) 379,863

Accumulated 
deficit

Shareholders' 
equity

Share 
purchase 

loans

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income

Contributed 
surplus

Deferred 
share-
based 

awardsPreferred shares Common shares

# $ # $Note $ $ $$ $ $
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
 

 
 See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
 

 
 

 
 

($ Thousands)

Years ended December 31, Note 2020 2019

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income (loss) 28,747 (53,158)

Add (deduct) items not involving cash:

Depreciation and amortization 5,742 2,650

Deferred income taxes 1,247 797

Goodwill, intangible and right of use asset impairment —  30,537

Reclassification of cumulative foreign currency translation —  (9,661)

Share-based compensation expense —  8,876

Accretion expense —  1,581

Loss on sale of discontinued operations —  15,499

Transaction costs from sale of capital markets —  (34,404)

Accretion of lease liability expense 341 —  

Advisor loan amortization 3,490 —  

Settlement of exisitng dividend receivable (1,680) —  

Gain on investment in associate (45,734) —  

       Share of (net income) loss of associate 2,365 (2,272)

(5,482) (39,555)

Net change in non-cash operating items 29 10,865 42,385

Cash provided by (used in) operating activities 5,383 2,830

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Partial repayment of promissory note (777) (6,844)

Return of capital on common shares —  (20,744)

Dividends paid on common shares (1,886) (7,544)

Dividends paid on Series B and C Preferred Shares (4,190) (4,401)

Principal elements of lease payments (3,145) (2,034)

Common shares repurchased and cancelled (40,000) (59)

Cash provided by (used in) financing activities (49,998) (41,626)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Cash acquired as part of RGMP transaction 87,489 —  

Proceeds from sale of discontinued operation —  42,179

Common share dividend received from associate 698 2,743

Equity investment in associate (1,947) (4,381)

Equipment and leasehold improvements, net expenditures (2,346) (2,661)

Cash provided by (used in)  investing activities 83,894 37,880

Effect of foreign exchange on cash balances 365 (207)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 39,644 (1,123)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 516,601 517,724

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 556,245 516,601

Supplemental cash flow information

Interest paid 7,641 9,698

Interest received 10,146 19,646

Taxes received 5,164 7,854
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Note 1 - Corporate Information 
 

RF Capital Group Inc. (RF Capital or the Company), formerly GMP Capital Inc., is incorporated under the laws of 

the Province of Ontario, Canada and has its registered office and principal place of business located at 145 King 

Street West, Suite 200, Toronto, Ontario, M5H 1J8.  The Company’s Common Shares, Series B Preferred Shares, 

and Series C Preferred Shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX) under the symbols RCG, RCG.PR.B, 

and RCG.PR.C, respectively.  The Company is the parent company of its wholly owned operating subsidiaries 

Richardson Wealth Limited (Richardson Wealth) and RF Securities Clearing LP (RF Securities).  Richardson Wealth 

and RF Securities are members of the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada (IIROC). 

 

 

Note 2 - Basis of Preparation 
 

a. Basis of Presentation 

 
These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS).  The Company's consolidated financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis, under the 

historical cost convention, modified to include the fair valuation of certain financial instruments to the extent 

required or permitted under accounting standards as set out in the relevant accounting policies. 

 

On December 6, 2019, the Company completed the sale of substantially all of its capital markets business.  The 

results of discontinued operation are presented separately in the consolidated statements of income (loss) and 

consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss).   

 

On October 20, 2020, the Company completed the acquisition of all the common shares of Richardson Wealth that 

were not owned by the Company (the RGMP Transaction).  Prior to the acquisition of Richardson Wealth, results 

were accounted for on the equity method and the acquisition method thereafter. 

 

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issuance by the Company's board of directors (Board of 

Directors) on March 4, 2021. 

 

b.  Principles of Consolidation 

 

The consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities and results of operations of the Company and its 

subsidiaries, after the elimination of intercompany transactions and balances.   The Company has control of its 

subsidiaries as its exposed to the rights to variable returns from its involvement with the subsidiaries and it can 

affect those returns through its power over their relevant activities.    

 

c. Critical Accounting Estimates and Use of Judgment 

 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make estimates and 

exercise judgment that affect reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial 
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statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.  These estimates and 

judgments are made based on information available as at the date of issuance of the consolidated financial 

statements that are believed to be reasonable.  Accordingly, actual results may differ from these estimates.  

Accounting policies that require management's estimates and judgments are discussed below. 

 

Business Combinations 

 

The purchase price related to business acquisitions is allocated to the underlying assets and liabilities based on their 

estimated fair value at the acquisition date.   Management makes estimates to determine the fair value of assets and 

liabilities including the valuation of separately identifiable intangibles acquired.   These estimates are based on 

management’s best assessment of the related inputs used in the valuation models, such as future cash flows and 

discount rates.    

 

Impairment of Goodwill and Intangible Assets 

 

Goodwill and intangible assets are reviewed annually for impairment, or more frequently when there are indicators 

that impairment may have occurred, by comparing the carrying value to its recoverable amount.  The recoverable 

amount is determined from internally developed valuation models that consider various factors and assumptions 

including forecasted cash earnings, growth rates, discount rates and terminal multiples.  Management is required to 

use judgment in estimating the recoverable value.  The use of different assumptions and estimates could influence 

the determination of the existence of impairment and the valuation of goodwill and intangible assets.  Management 

believes that the assumptions and estimates used are reasonable.   

 

Income Taxes 

 

The Company computes an income tax expense in each of the tax jurisdictions in which it operates.  Actual amounts 

of income tax expense only become final upon filing and acceptance of the tax return by the relevant tax authorities, 

which occurs subsequent to the issuance of the consolidated financial statements.  Additionally, estimation of 

income taxes includes evaluating the recoverability of deferred tax assets against future taxable income based on an 

assessment of the ability to use the underlying future tax deductions before they expire.  To the extent that estimates 

of future taxable income differ from the tax return, income would be affected in a subsequent period. 

 

Share-based Compensation 

 

The Company uses estimates and judgments when determining the share-based compensation expense during a 

reporting period.  The determination of the share-based compensation expense resulting from the Company's 

granting of employee share options and other deferred share-based awards depends on the use of option pricing and 

probability weighted models, which by their nature are subject to measurement uncertainty. These models require 

the use of subjective assumptions, including expected stock price volatility and the use of historical data that may 

not be reflective of future performance.  
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Provisions 

 

Due to the nature of provisions, a considerable part of their determination is based on estimates and judgments 

including assumptions concerning the future. The actual outcome of these uncertain factors may be materially 

different from the estimates, causing differences with the estimated provisions.  

 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

 

Determining the fair value of financial instruments involves the use of judgment to estimate fair values when quoted 

market prices are not available.  Where the market for a financial instrument is not active, fair value is established 

using a valuation technique.  These valuation techniques involve a degree of estimation, the extent of which depends 

on the instrument's complexity and the availability of market-based data. 

 
 
Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies 
 

a. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

Cash is comprised of cash on deposit and cash equivalents including highly liquid investments such as interest-

bearing treasury bills and bankers' acceptances that are convertible into cash with original maturities of three months 

or less. 

 

b. Foreign Currency Translation 

 

The Canadian dollar is the functional and presentation currency of the Company.  Each of the Company's 

subsidiaries determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each subsidiary 

and associate are measured using that functional currency. 

 

Assets and liabilities of foreign operations that have a functional currency other than the Canadian dollar are 

translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date and revenue and expenses at average rates during 

the period.  Gains or losses on translation are included as a component of equity. 

 

Foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities of the Company and its Canadian dollar functional 

currency subsidiaries are translated using the rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date and non-monetary 

assets and liabilities measured at fair value are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the date when the fair 

value was determined. Revenue and expenses are measured at average rates during the period. Gains or losses on 

translation of these items are included in other income. Foreign currency denominated non-monetary assets and 

liabilities, measured at historical cost, are translated at the rate of exchange at the transaction date. 
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c. Financial Instruments 

 

As of January 1, 2018, the Company adopted IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (IFRS 9). The transition to the new 

standard had no material impact on the Company's classification and measurement of financial instruments.  The 

Company applied the standard retrospectively, with an initial application date of January 1, 2018. 

 

Classification and measurement: Under IFRS 9, financial instruments are measured at fair value through profit or 

loss (FVPL), amortized cost, or through other comprehensive income (loss) (FVOCI).  Under IFRS 9 for financial 

instruments, the classification is based on two criteria: the business model for managing the assets; and whether the 

instruments' contractual cash flows represent solely payments and interest on the principal amount outstanding 

(SPPI criterion). 

 

The classification and measurement of the Company's financial instruments are as follows: 

 

Preferred share investments in associate were designated at FVOCI, with no gains or losses recycled to profit or loss 

on recognition. Such instruments all qualify as equity of the issuer as defined in IAS 32, Financial Instruments: 

Presentation, and were not held for trading.   

 

Financial assets measured at FVPL comprise of equity instruments that the Company had not irrevocably elected to 

classify at FVOCI and derivatives. This category also includes debt instruments whose cash flow characteristics fail 

the SPPI criterion or are not held within a business model whose objective is either to collect contractual cash flows, 

or both to collect contractual cash flows and sell.  

 

The assessment of the Company's business models was made as of the date of initial application, and then applied 

retrospectively.  The assessment of whether contractual cash flows on the debt instruments are solely composed of 

principal and interest was made based on the facts and circumstances at the initial recognition of the assets. 

 

Derivative Financial Instruments 

 

The Company and its subsidiaries selectively utilize derivative instruments to manage financial risks, including 

foreign exchange, interest rate and fair value risks.  The Company's derivatives are carried at fair value with realized 

and unrealized gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statements of 

income (loss), recorded in principal transactions revenue. Fair values of exchange-traded derivatives are obtained 

from quoted market prices.  Fair values of over-the-counter derivatives are obtained using valuation techniques and 

other pricing models which include market-based data as inputs. 

 

d. Impairment of Financial Assets 

 

IFRS 9 requires the Company to record an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for loans and debt financial 

assets not held at FVPL.  The Company has applied the standard's simplified approach for corporate finance 

receivables and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs.  The Company uses a historical-based provision 

matrix adjusted for forward-looking factors.  The ECLs for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were 

insignificant. 
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The Company also applies a forward-looking expected credit loss approach requiring it to record an allowance for 

ECLs for loans and debt financial assets not held at FVTPL.  ECLs are based on the difference between the 

contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the company expects to 

receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate.  Under the ECL model, the Company 

recognizes ECL provision on the following basis:    

  

Stage 1 - At initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible 
within the next 12-months (12-month ECL).    
  
Stage 2 - When a significant increase in credit risk is detected, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected 
over the remaining life of the exposure (a lifetime ECL).  
Stage 3 - When a financial asset is impaired, a lifetime ECL is recognized.   
  
Provisions are based on the Company’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors 
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.  
 

e. Client Balances 

 

Client security transactions are entered into on either a cash, cash on delivery or margin basis and are recorded on 

the trade date of the transaction.  Amounts are due from clients on the settlement date of the transaction for cash 

accounts.  Margin loans are due on demand and are collateralized by the financial assets in the client's account.  

Amounts loaned to any client are restricted by the Company's credit limits, which are generally more restrictive than 

those required by IIROC and are subject to the Company's credit review and daily monitoring procedures.  Interest 

earned on margin loans and interest paid on client cash deposits are based on a floating rate. 

 

f. Securities Borrowing and Lending 

 

The Company engages in securities borrowing and lending primarily to facilitate the securities settlement process.  

These arrangements are typically short-term in nature.  These transactions are fully collateralized and subject to 

daily margin calls for any deficiency between the market value of the security loaned and the amount of collateral 

received.  The Company manages its credit exposure by establishing and monitoring aggregate limits by customer 

for these transactions. 

 

Securities lent to counterparties are retained on the consolidated balance sheets when substantially all of the risks 

and rewards of ownership of the securities remain with the Company.  Cash received as collateral is recorded on the 

consolidated balance sheets with a corresponding liability recognized in payable to brokers.  Cash collateral received 

generally exceeds the market value of the securities loaned.  Fees earned, net of interest paid on cash collateral, are 

recorded in interest income. 

 

When the Company borrows securities under stock borrow arrangements and the risks and rewards of ownership do 

not pass to the Company, the securities borrowed are not recorded by the Company on its consolidated balance 

sheets. The claim relating to cash or other collateral deposited with the lender is recorded in receivable from 

brokers.  The cost of borrowing the securities, net of interest received on the cash collateral deposited, is recorded in 

interest expense. 
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g. Equipment and Leasehold Improvements 

Equipment and leasehold improvements are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment in value, if any.  Depreciation is recorded on a straight-line basis over the following expected useful 

lives: 

 

Furniture and equipment  7 to 8 years 

Computer hardware  3 to 5 years 

Leasehold improvements Shorter of useful life and lease term plus first renewal period, if renewal is 

reasonably assured 

 

Residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted, if 

appropriate. 

 

h. Goodwill 

 

Goodwill represents the excess purchase price paid over the net fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities 

acquired in a business combination.  Goodwill is allocated to a CGU or group of CGUs that is expected to benefit 

from synergies of the business combination regardless of whether any assets acquired and liabilities assumed are 

assigned to the CGU or group of CGUs.  A CGU is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generate cash 

inflows largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or group of assets.  Each CGU or group of CGUs 

to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the Company at which goodwill is monitored 

for internal management purposes and is not larger than an operating segment. 

 

i. Intangible Assets 

 
The Company’s intangible assets consist of application software and other intangibles acquired as part of the RGMP 

Transaction described in Note 8.  These intangibles relate to brand and customer relationships acquired through the 

acquisition of Richardson Wealth.  Intangibles are initially recognized at fair value and amortized over their 

estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis:  

 

Application software    3 years 

Brand   10 years 

Customer relationships  15 years 

 

j. Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 

 
The carrying values of non-financial assets with finite lives are assessed for impairment whenever events or changes 

in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognized if the 

carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.  The Company evaluates impairment losses for potential reversals 

when events or changes in circumstances warrant such consideration. 
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Goodwill 

 

Goodwill is tested for impairment at the CGU or group of CGUs level annually or more frequently if events or 

circumstances suggest that there may be impairment.  After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any 

accumulated impairment losses.  A write-down is recognized if the recoverable amount of the CGU, determined as 

the greater of the estimated fair value less costs to sell (FVLCS) or its value-in-use (VIU), is less than the carrying 

value. Any impairment of goodwill is expensed in the period in which the impairment is identified.  Impairment 

losses relating to goodwill are not reversed if there is a subsequent recovery in value of the CGU. 

 
Intangible Assets 

 

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and any 

accumulated impairment losses.  Identifiable finite-life intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful 

lives on a straight-line basis.  The amortization period and the method of amortization for an intangible asset with a 

finite useful life is reviewed at least annually, at each financial year-end.  At each consolidated balance sheet date, 

intangible assets are assessed for indicators of impairment.  If indicators are present, these assets are subject to an 

impairment review.  Any loss resulting from the impairment of intangible assets is expensed in the period the 

impairment is identified. 

 
k. Revenue Recognition 

 

The main types of revenue contracts are as follows: 

Commissions: Commissions consist of revenue generated primarily from commission-based brokerage services 

provided to clients. The performance obligation for recognition of commission revenue is satisfied through the 

execution of trades for clients on a trade date basis. 

Fee-based revenue: Fee-based revenue consists primarily of fees earned through investment management 

services.  The performance obligation for recognition of fee-based income is satisfied over the period of time during 

which the service is delivered.  

Interest revenue: Interest revenue primarily includes interest earned on margin loans, securities lending and interest 

on the Company’s own cash positions.  Interest revenue is recognized on an accrual basis.  

Other revenue: Other revenue includes revenue earned from the provision of insurance products, foreign exchange 

services and rebate income associated with securities lending activities and is recognized on an accrual basis.  The 

Company also provides carrying broker and administrative services which are recorded over time as performance 

obligations are satisfied.    

Revenue associated with principal transactions are excluded from the scope of IFRS 15. 
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l. Share-Based Compensation 

 

Deferred Share-Based Awards 

 

The Company uses the fair value method to measure the cost of common share awards granted to certain employees.  

Under this method, the cost of the share awards is measured at the grant date and recognized over the vesting period, 

taking into account an estimated forfeiture rate and the likelihood of performance vesting conditions being met.  The 

estimate of share awards expected to vest relating to non-market vesting conditions is revisited at each reporting 

period and remeasured as required. 

 

Share Option Awards 

 

The Company uses the fair value method to measure the cost of share options awarded to directors and employees.  

The fair value of the share option award is estimated at grant date using valuation techniques that take into account 

its exercise price, its expected life, the risk-free interest rate, the expected volatility and dividends of the Company’s 

common shares and the expected level of forfeitures.  For share option awards with graded vesting, the fair value of 

each tranche is treated as a separate grant with a different vesting date and a different fair value.  The fair value of 

the share option awards is recognized as an expense over the applicable vesting period over which all specified 

vesting conditions are satisfied, with a corresponding increase to contributed surplus. 

 

At each reporting date, the Company reassesses its estimate of the number of share-based awards and share option 

awards that are expected to vest and recognizes the impact of the change in estimate in forfeitures through the 

consolidated statements of income (loss) in the current reporting period. 

 

m. Provisions 

 

Provisions represent a liability to the Company for which the amount or timing is uncertain.  Provisions are 

recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable 

that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably 

estimated.  Provisions are measured at the present value of the expected expenditures to settle the obligation using a 

discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 

obligation. 

 

n. Income Taxes 

 

The Company records the current and deferred taxes relating to transactions that have been included in the 

consolidated financial statements using the provisions of the related jurisdiction's tax laws and rates. 

 

Current Income Tax 

 

Current income tax is measured as the amounts expected to be paid to or recovered from the taxation authorities 

based on taxable income or loss.  Taxable income or loss may differ from income reported on the Company’s 

consolidated statements of income (loss) since taxable income excludes certain items that are taxable or deductible 
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in other years and also excludes items that are never taxable or deductible for tax purposes.  Changes in taxes arising 

from a change in tax rates and laws will be recognized in the period when the tax rate or law is substantively 

enacted. Current tax assets and liabilities are offset when the legally enforceable right to offset exists and the 

Company itself intends to net settle the amounts. 

 
Deferred Income Tax 

 

Deferred tax expense and/or benefit is calculated using the liability method with reference to temporary differences 

arising between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the 

corresponding tax basis used in the computation of taxable income.  Deferred tax assets are recognized for all 

deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax losses.  Deferred tax assets are recognized 

only to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable income will be available against which unused tax losses 

and deductible temporary differences can be utilized. 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the legally enforceable right exists to offset and the deferred tax 

assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied on the same tax reporting entity by the same taxation authority.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset 

is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted 

at the consolidated balance sheet dates. 

 
o. IFRS 16 Leases 

 

The standard requires lessees to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for most leases and recognize the 

associated expenses to depreciation and interest expense respectively. 

 

The Company elected to apply IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach using the following practical 

expedients: 

•  the election was taken to not reassess whether a contract is or contains a lease at the date of initial 

application, and instead to only apply IFRS 16 to contracts that were in the scope of IAS 17; 

•  the election was taken to apply a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar 

characteristics; 

•  the election was taken to rely on the IAS 37 assessment of whether leases are onerous instead of 

performing an impairment review;  

•  the election was taken to exclude leases for which the term ends within 12 months from January 1, 2019; 

•  the election was taken to exclude initial direct costs from the measurement of the right of use asset on 

January 1, 2019; 

•  the election was taken to use hindsight to determine lease terms; and 

•  the election was taken, by class of underlying asset, not to separate non-lease components from lease 

components, and instead account for each lease component and any associated non-lease components as a 

single lease component. 
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Right-of-use assets 

 

The Company recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying 

asset is available for use).  With the exception of the right-of-use assets acquired as part of the RGMP Transaction, 

which were remeasured at fair value, right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and 

impairment losses, and adjusted for any re-measurement of lease liabilities.  The cost of right-of-use assets includes 

the amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the 

commencement date less any lease incentives received.  Unless the Company is reasonably certain to obtain 

ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the recognized right-of-use assets are depreciated on a 

straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term. Right-of-use assets are subject to 

impairment. 

 

Lease liabilities 

 

At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognizes lease liabilities measured at the present value of 

lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance 

fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and 

amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a 

purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Company and payments of penalties for terminating a 

lease, if the lease term reflects the Company’s exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not 

depend on an index or a rate are recognized as expenses in the period in which the event or condition that triggers 

the payment occurs. 

 

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease 

commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement 

date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments 

made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the 

lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment to purchase the 

underlying asset. 

 

p. Future Changes in Accounting Policies 

 

The Company monitors the potential changes in standards proposed by the International Accounting Standards 

Board (IASB) and analyzes the effect that changes in the standards may have on the Company's operations.  There 

were no significant changes in accounting policies that would impact the Company for the year ended December 31, 

2020.    
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Note 4 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers  
 
The following table presents disaggregated revenue information for each reportable segment. 

 

1Included in Other income is revenue earned from the provision of insurance products and private client capital markets in Wealth Management 
and carrying broker fees in Operations Clearing.  

 
 
Note 5 - Securities Owned and Obligations Related to Securities Sold Short 
 

 
 
As at December 31, 2020, debt securities have a weighted-average maturity of January 2022 (2019 - weighted-

average maturity of January 2021) with a weighted-average yield of 0.55% (2019 – 1.85%).  Certain securities 

owned have been pledged as collateral with central clearing organizations. 

 

 

 

2020 2019

Commissions 6,127 —  — —  —  —  6,127 — 

Investment management and fee income 42,427 —  — —  —  —  42,427 — 

Investment banking —  —  —  —  —  1,919 —  1,919

Other income1 1,562 —  11,132 8,879 —  —  12,694 8,879

Revenue - contracts with customers 50,116 —  11,132 8,879 —  1,919 61,248 10,798

Timing

  Point in time 6,127 —  —  —  —  1,919 6,127 1,919

  Over time 43,989 —  11,132 8,879 —  —  55,121 8,879

Other revenue 6,468 2,384 16,414 21,781 (11) 1,877 22,871 26,042

Total revenue 56,584 2,384 27,546 30,660 (11) 3,796 84,119 36,840

2019

Wealth Management Operations Clearing Corporate Total

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020

Debt securities:

Canadian and U.S. federal government debt 37,296 11,851 47,045 6,999

Canadian provincial and municipal government debt 10,688 590 6,275 3,109

Corporate and other debt 19,660 2,879 11,514 1,291

Equity securities 1,528 —  562 —  

Derivative financial instruments 1,150 —  45 —  

70,322 15,320 65,441 11,399

sold short

2020 2019

Trading

assets

Securities

sold short

Trading

assets

Securities
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Note 6 - Other Assets 
 

 
 

Accounts receivable consist of interest, dividends, and rebate fees receivable.  Impairment losses recognized on 

accounts receivable in accordance with IFRS 9 were nil in 2020 and 2019. 

 

Note 7 - Interests in Other Entities 
 

Certain of the Company's subsidiaries are subject to regulatory capital requirements designed to provide notice to 

the regulatory authorities of possible liquidity concerns. Richardson Wealth and RF Securities are registered 

investment dealers subject to regulation primarily by IIROC.  Sources of financial statement capital for IIROC 

regulatory capital purposes include unitholders' equity in addition to subordinated loans.  

 

Regulatory capital requirements fluctuate daily based on margin requirements in respect of outstanding trades and/or 

working capital requirements.  Compliance with these requirements may require the Company to keep sufficient 

cash and other liquid assets on hand to maintain regulatory capital requirements rather than using these liquid assets 

in connection with its business or paying them out in the form of a cash dividend.  As at and during the years ended 

December 31, 2020 and 2019, all of the Company's subsidiaries were in compliance with their respective capital 

requirements. 

 

The Company accounted for its equity investment in Richardson Wealth using the equity method. Preferred share 

investments in Richardson Wealth were measured at FVOCI. The following table details the Company’s equity and 

non-equity investments in Richardson Wealth: 

 

2020 2019

Accounts receivable 5,804 4,814

Income taxes recoverable — 6,077

Finance lease receivable 1,284 2,127

Prepaid deposits and other 5,722 952

12,810 13,970

2020 2019

Equity investment as at January 1 51,758 47,848

Additional investment 1,947 4,381

Common share dividends (698) (2,743)

Share of net income of associate (2,365) 2,272

Gain on investment 45,734 —  

Elimination of the equity investment upon consolidation (96,376) —  

Equity investment as at December 31 —  51,758

Preferred share investments:

Class B preferred shares 30,422 30,422

Special preference shares 673 673

Elimination of the non-equity investment upon consolidation (31,095) —  

Total investment as at December 31 —  82,853
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Note 8 - Acquisition of Richardson Wealth  
 

For accounting purposes, the fair value of the purchase consideration for the RGMP Transaction is assumed to be 

$323,150 based on a closing price of the Company’s common shares of $1.93 per common share on October 20, 

2020 and is calculated as follows:  

 

 

The fair value of the Company's existing ownership interest in Richardson Wealth common shares is assumed to be 

$96,376 determined using 28,372,616 Richardson Wealth common shares at $3.40 per common share resulting in a 

gain of $45,734.  The fair value of the Company's existing ownership interest in Richardson Wealth Class A 

preferred shares and Special Preference shares (Richardson Wealth preferred shares) is the redemption price of 

$31,095.  Settlement of pre-existing trade amounts of $1,680 receivable from Richardson Wealth to the Company as 

at October 20, 2020 relates to the dividend receivable from Richardson Wealth.     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Consideration Paid

100,518 common shares 193,999

Fair value of existing ownership interest - Richardson Wealth common shares 96,376

Fair value of existing ownership interest - Richardson Wealth preferred shares 31,095

Settlement of existing intercompany amounts 1,680

Purchase consideration 323,150

Net tangible assets acquired 15,487

Remaining purchase price to be allocated to goodwill and intangibles and deferred tax liability 307,663
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The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination under the purchase method.  The Company has a 

period of one year to complete the business combination accounting.  The following table illustrates the preliminary 

fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities of Richardson Wealth as of October 20, 2020.  

 

 

If the acquisition has occurred on January 1, 2020, consolidated revenue and net income for the year ended 

December 31, 2020 would have been approximately $286,778 and $17,930 respectively.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cash and cash equivalents 87,489 

Securities owned 3,140 

Employee and other loans receivable 35,871 

Other assets 8,014 

Equipment and leasehold improvements 12,207 

Right-of-use assets 24,584 

Deferred tax assets 24,458 

Obligations related to securities sold short (20)

Payable to brokers (3,366)

Lease liabilities (24,584)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (44,606)

Other liabilities (10,278)

Preferred shares liability (30,422)

Loans and promissory notes (67,000)

Net tangible assets acquired 15,487 

Goodwill 163,971 

Intangible assets 195,500 

Deferred tax liability (51,808)

Purchase consideration 323,150 
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Note 9 - Discontinued Operation 
 

On December 6, 2019, the Company completed the sale of substantially all of its capital markets business.  Cash 

consideration was determined at closing based on the tangible book value of the capital markets business (less cash) 

plus $40,000.  Total cash consideration was determined to be $42,179.  Loss on sale amounted to $15,499 and 

included transaction costs of $34,404 and goodwill write-off of $21,095.   

 

In January 2019, the Company announced that it had completed the sale of the institutional fixed income trading 

operations.  A non-cash gain of $8,310 was realized in first quarter 2019, comprising the reclassification of 

cumulative foreign currency translation adjustments to net income, recorded in discontinued operations. 
 

The following tables present the financial performance and cash flow information of the discontinued operation for 

the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 and include both the sale of the capital markets business and the 

institutional fixed income trading operation: 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2020 2019

Revenues 1,361 59,465

Expenses 2,022 74,389

Impairment Charge —  30,537

Income (loss) before income taxes from discontinued operation (661) (45,461)

Income tax recovery —  (6,013)

Income (loss) from discontinued operation (661) (39,448)
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Note 10 - Securities Borrowed and Lent 
 

The following table details the fair value of securities borrowed and lent, as well as the amount and type of collateral 

delivered and received in connection with this activity: 

 

 
 
 
Note 11 - Employee and Other Loans Receivable 
 

 
 

Investment advisor loans 

 

Richardson Wealth advances interest-free funds to new investment advisors upon commencement of their 

employment.  Upon the satisfaction of certain conditions over a pre-specified term, Richardson Wealth is obligated 

to i) pay cash bonuses to the investment advisors of an advance sufficient to repay 100% of the total loans or ii) the 

loan is forgiven over a pre-specified term on each applicable anniversary date. The Company records a reduction in 

the loan as compensation expense over the term of such loan.  For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company 

recorded compensation expense of $3,222 (2019 – nil) and a corresponding reduction to loans outstanding. 

 

Transition agreement for retirees 

 

Richardson Wealth has a program for interested advisors to help facilitate the transition of the clients’ assets under 

administration upon retirement.  Richardson Wealth has agreed to provide a repayable loan to the successor 

investment advisors to assist in acquiring the book of business.  The interest rates and terms vary with the individual 

circumstances.  

 

Other loans 

 

Other loans represent repayable financing loans and certain other advisor and employee loans. 

Cash delivered 
as collateral

Securities 
borrowed

Cash received 
as collateral

Securities 
lent

As at December 31, 2020 69,836 68,342 157,428 152,750

As at December 31, 2019 44,135 45,949 27,923 27,626

Borrowed Lent

2020 2019

Investment advisor loans 58,470 — 

Transition agreement for retirees 2,141 — 

Other loans 6,864 1,903

67,475 1,903
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Note 12 - Equipment and Leasehold Improvements 
 

 
1 Includes write-offs in connection with the sale of the capital markets business and institutional fixed income trading operation, refer to Note 9. 

 
 
Note 13 - Right-of-Use Assets 
 
 

 
 
 
The Company depreciates the right-of-use assets related to office space on a straight-line basis from the lease 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. 
  

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Cost

Balance at January 1 54 1,634 130 4,546 1,169 8,853 1,353 15,033

Assets acquired 1,331 —  2,045 —  8,831 —  12,207 — 

Additions 483 647 439 104 1,424 1,920 2,346 2,671

Disposals and write-offs
1 (158) (2,227) (139) (4,520) (88) (9,604) (385) (16,351)

Cost at December 31 1,710 54 2,475 130 11,336 1,169 15,521 1,353

Accumulated depreciation

Balance at January 1 16 616 68 4,154 905 7,582 989 12,352

Depreciation 72 169 173 349 1,085 155 1,330 673

Disposals and write-offs
1 (158) (769) (139) (4,435) (88) (6,832) (385) (12,036)

Accumulated depreciation at December 31 (70) 16 102 68 1,902 905 1,934 989

Net book value at December 31 1,780 38 2,373 62 9,434 264 13,587 364

Furniture and equipment Computer hardware Leasehold improvements Total

Balance, January 1, 2019 2,345 

Additions of right-of-use assets — 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (873)

Balance, December 31, 2019 1,472 

Additions of right-of-use assets 24,584 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (1,822)

Balance, December 31, 2020 24,234 
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Note 14 - Goodwill and Intangible Assets 
 

 

 

Goodwill and intangible assets, which include $195,000 in customer relationships and $500 in brand were acquired 

through the acquisition of Richardson Wealth.     

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually on December 31 and more frequently if events or circumstances indicate 

that it may be impaired. When determining whether an impairment test is required at a given balance sheet date, the 

Company considers factors such as revenue performance compared with forecast and the relationship between the 

Company’s market capitalization and its book value.  An impairment test was performed as at December 31, 2020.  

An impairment is required if the recoverable amount of the Company, determined as the greater of the estimated fair 

value less cost to sell (FVLCS) or its value-in-use (VIU), is less than the carrying value.  For purposes of the 

December 31, 2020 impairment test, the estimated recoverable amount of the Company was based on the FVLCS.  

The FVLCS has been determined from internally developed valuation models which consider various factors and 

assumptions.  While the use of different assumptions and estimates could influence the amount of the goodwill 

impairment charge, management believes that the assumptions and estimates used are reasonable.  The impairment 

test resulted in no reduction of the carrying amount of goodwill.   

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

Cost

Balance at January 1 — 105,421  — — —  2,631  — 108,052  

Assets acquired 163,971 —  195,500 — —  18  359,471 18  

Additions — — — — — — — — 

Disposals — —  — — —  (2,649)  — (2,649)  

Cost at December 31 163,971 105,421  195,500 — —  —  359,471 105,421  

Accumulated amortization and impairment

Balance at January 1 — 55,785  — — —  2,585  — 58,370  

Amortization — —  2,590 — —  46  2,590 46  

Impairments — 28,541  — — —  (2,631)  — 25,910  

Disposals — — — — — — — — 

Goodwill allocated to sale — 21,095  — — —  —  — 21,095  

Accumulated amortization and impairment at December 31 — 105,421  2,590 — —  —  2,590 105,421  

Net book value at December 31 163,971 —  192,910 — —  —  356,881 —  

   

   

Goodwill
Application
 software Total

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Intangibles

2020 2019
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Note 15 - Related Party Transactions and Balances 
 

The Company's related parties include the following persons and/or entities: 

 

a.   associate or entities that are controlled or significantly influenced by the Company including subsidiaries 

 of associate; and 

b.  key management personnel, including those entities that are controlled (directly or indirectly) by key 

         management personnel. 

 

Related Party Balances 

 

Outstanding related party balances were nil as at December 31, 2020.    In the prior year, there was a balance due to 
associate of $10,310.    

 
The following table reflects related party transactions recorded in the Company's consolidated statements of income 
(loss): 

 

 
Associate 
 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities as at December 31, 2019 included outstanding current obligations to 

Richardson Wealth representing cash held by RF Securities in its role as carrying broker, which relates primarily to 

revenue earned by Richardson Wealth.  The balance is nil as at December 31, 2020 due to the RGMP Transaction.   

 

Other income includes trade execution, technology and administration service fees associated with RF Securities' 

role as carrying broker pursuant to a services agreement with Richardson Wealth.  During 2020, other income also 

includes $1,680 (2019 - $2,414) in dividends on the Company's preferred share investments in Richardson Wealth. 

 

Key Management Personnel 

 

Key management personnel consist of the Board of Directors and officers of the Company and other persons having 

authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company.  Receivables from 

clients of $36 (2019 - nil) and payables to clients of $611 (2019 - nil) represent outstanding transactions where the 

Company executes security trades on either a cash or margin basis for key management personnel.  Commission 

income on such transactions in the aggregate is not material in relation to the overall operations of the Company.  

Interest on margin loans is based on terms and conditions applicable to all clients. 

 
 

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Revenue

Interest income — — 3 83 3 83

Other income 9,999 11,293 — — 9,999 11,293

Associate Key Management Total
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Key management personnel compensation for services rendered is as follows: 

 

 

 
Note 16 - Credit Facilities 
 

The Company borrows money primarily to facilitate the securities settlement process for both client and proprietary 

transactions.  As at December 31, 2020, the Company has credit facilities with Schedule I Canadian chartered banks 

of $651,831 (2019 - $707,535).  The facilities consist of call loans, letters of credit, daylight overdraft, and demand 

and foreign exchange facilities.  Interest on these facilities is based on floating rates.  At December 31, 2020, and 

2019, the Company had no amounts outstanding under any of these facilities. 

 
Note 17 - Other Liabilities 
 

 
 
Note 18 - Promissory Note Receivable and Liability 
 

In connection with the Company’s acquisition of FirstEnergy Capital Corp. (FirstEnergy) in 2016, the Company 

issued to former FirstEnergy shareholders an unsecured promissory note bearing interest at 3.61% compounded 

annually.  The promissory note is subject to adjustments and is to be repaid based upon certain financial metrics over 

a maximum five-year period pursuant to the terms of the purchase agreement. During the year ended December 31, 

2020, the Company paid down $777 of principal on the promissory note (2019 - $6,844) and recorded accretion 

expenses of nil (2019 - $1,581). 

 

Promissory note receivable represents a receivable from Stifel for the promissory notes held by former FirstEnergy 

shareholders in the UK. 

2019

Fixed salaries and benefits 2,415 2,264

Retirement allowance — 13,889

Variable incentive-based compensation 3,832 6,627

Share-based compensation 6 405

Directors fees 832 874

7,085 24,059

2020

2020 2019

Restructuring and legal provision 19,410 19,768

Performance incentive plan liability 1,349 — 

Income taxes payable 686 — 
Other 77 244

21,522 20,012
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Note 19 - Income Tax  
 
The components of income tax expense for 2020 and 2019, are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

The differences between income tax expense (recovery) reflected in the consolidated statements of income (loss) 

and the amounts calculated at the combined Canadian federal and provincial statutory tax rates are as follows: 

 

 

 

2020 2019

Current tax expense 

Current year 667 1,934 

Adjustments for prior years 815 59 
Total current tax expense 1,482 1,993 

Deferred tax expense 

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 1,247 4,817 
Total income tax expense 2,729 6,810 

Amount Rate Amount Rate

Income tax expense of continuing operations at the combined Canadian federal and 
provincial statutory tax rate 8,516 26.5% 4,825 26.5%

Income tax (recovery) of discontinued operations at the combined Canadian federal 
and provincial statutory tax rate (175) 26.5% (18,675) 26.5%

Increase (decrease) in income tax expense (recovery) due to:

Non-deductible expenses 1,978 23.7 4,324 (8.3)

Non-taxable income (16,879) (202.4) (729) 1.4 

Tax losses and other temporary differences not recognized 6,187 74.2 3,418 (6.5)

Adjustment for prior years 815 9.8 59 (0.1)

Derecognition of previously recognized tax assets — — 5,035 (0.1)

Rate difference in subsidiaries 230 — 798 (1.5)

Part VI.1 Taxes 1,626 23.2 1,757 (3.4)

Other 431 52.9 (15) — 
Income tax expense and effective rate 2,729 0.3 797 (1.6)
Income tax (recovery) on discontinued operation — (6,013)

Income tax expense on continuing operations 2,729 6,810 

2020 2019
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The major components of the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows: 

 

 

 

The Company initially recorded a deferred tax liability of $51,808 on intangible assets acquired with the business 

combination of Richardson Wealth (refer to note 8).   

 

The benefit of these losses and other deductible temporary differences not reflected in the Company's consolidated 

financial statements are as follows: 

 

 

Deferred tax assets

Deductible temporary differences:

Non-capital losses 17,756 —

Lease liability 5,651 —

Deferred compensation arrangements 2,035 —

Equipment and leasehold improvements 1,752 —

Leasehold inducements 182 —

Other 265 —

   Right-of-use assets (5,117) —

Deferred tax assets 22,524 —

Deferred tax liabilities

Taxable temporary differences:

   Intangible assets 51,121 —

Deferred tax liabilities 51,121 —

20192020

2020 2019

Non-capital losses 44,158 36,276

Capital losses 54,305 54,305

Compensation and benefits 668 9,789

Equipment and leasehold improvements 1,107 4,417

Right-of-use asset and liability 1,428 2,459

Other 1,193 800

Total losses and other temporary differences not recognized 102,859 108,046
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Note 20 - Share Capital 
 

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares.  Each common share has equal rights 

and privileges and entitles the holder to one vote at all meetings of common shareholders. The Company is also 

authorized to issue an unlimited number of preferred shares (other than the Series A Preferred Shares, Series B 

Preferred Shares and Series C Preferred Shares), issuable at any time and from time to time in one or more series. 

The designation, rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to the preferred shares will be determined 

by the Board of Directors of the Company prior to issue. 

 

a. Common Shares 

  
As of the closing of the RGMP Transaction, 90% of the 100,518 common shares issued for the RGMP Transaction 

were placed in escrow (the Escrowed Shares) to be released, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, in equal 

amounts on the first, second and third anniversaries of the closing of the RGMP Transaction.  

 

a. Preferred Shares 

  

Issued and outstanding are 3,565 cumulative 5-Year Rate Reset Preferred Shares, Series B (the Series B Preferred 

Shares) and 1,035 Cumulative Floating Rate Preferred Shares, Series C (the Series C Preferred Shares) recorded at 

the aggregate net proceeds of $112,263.   Quarterly cumulative cash dividends on Series B Preferred Shares, if 

declared, will be paid at an annual rate of 3.611% for the five-year period ending on March 31, 2021.  Thereafter, the 

dividend rate is reset every five years at a rate equal to the sum of the then current five-year Government of Canada 

(GOC) bond yield plus 2.89%.  The Series B Preferred Shares are redeemable by the Company, in whole or in part, 

at its option on March 31, 2021 and on March 31 of every fifth year thereafter at a cash redemption price per share 

of $25.00 together with all accrued and unpaid dividends.  Holders of Series B Preferred Shares have the right, at 

their option, to convert their shares into Series C Preferred Shares, subject to certain conditions and the Company's 

right to redeem the Series B Preferred Shares as described above, on March 31, 2021 and on March 31 of every fifth 

year thereafter. 

 

Holders of the Series C Preferred Shares are entitled to receive cumulative quarterly floating dividends at a rate 

equal to the sum of the then 90-day GOC yield plus 2.89%, as and when declared by the Board of Directors.  

Holders of the Series C Preferred Shares may convert their shares into Series B Preferred Shares on a one-for-one 

basis, subject to certain conditions and the Company's right to redeem the Series C Preferred Shares as described 

below, on March 31, 2021 and on March 31 every fifth year thereafter.  The Series C Preferred Shares are 

redeemable in whole or in part by the Company, at its option, at a cash redemption price per share of $25.00 together 
with all accrued and unpaid dividends in the case of redemptions on March 31, 2021 and on March 31 every fifth 

year thereafter or $25.50 per share together with all accrued and unpaid dividends in the case of redemptions on any 

other date after March 31, 2016. 
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b. Dividends 

 

Common Share Dividends 

 

The Company declared the following common share dividends during the year ended December 31, 2020: 

 

 

 

On April 29, 2020, in response to the disruption caused by COVID-19, the Company’s Board of Directors decided to 

temporarily suspend the Company’s quarterly common shares cash dividend.   

 

Preferred Share Dividends 

 

The Company declared the following Preferred Share dividends during the year ended December 31, 2020: 

 

 
 

On March 4, 2021, the Board of Directors approved a cash dividend of $0.2257 per Series B Preferred Share and 

$0.181788 per Series C Preferred Share payable on March 31, 2021, to preferred shareholders of record on  

March 15, 2021. 

 

c. Share Repurchases and Forfeitures 

 

During 2020, the Company purchased for cancellation 16,529 common shares under the substantial issuer bid at an 

offer price of $2.42 per share for a total cost of $40,000.   The difference between the offer price and carrying 

amount of the shares of $9,178 was recorded as a reduction to accumulated deficit.   

 

During 2020, 43 common shares (2019 - 12) that were issued under an escrow share plan were forfeited and 

cancelled for a share capital reduction of $216 (2019 - $59). 
 

March 16, 2020 March 31, 2020 0.025 1,886 

Record date Payment date

Cash dividend

per common share

Total dividend

amount

Cash dividend Cash dividend

per Series B 
Preferred Share

per Series C 
Preferred Share

March 16, 2020 March 31, 2020 0.2257 0.282800 1,097 

June 15, 2020 June 30, 2020 0.2257 0.272005 1,086 

October 30, 2020 November 16, 2020 0.2257 0.193803 1,005 

December 15, 2020 December 31, 2020 0.2257 0.190410 1,002 

Total 4,190 

Record date Payment date
Total dividend 

amount
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d. Share Incentive Plan (SIP) 
 

In connection with the SIP, the Company has established an employee benefit plan trust (the SIP Trust) for the 

purpose of purchasing the Company’s common shares in the open market and delivering the common shares to the 

SIP participants upon vesting. The Company consolidates the SIP Trust in accordance with IFRS 10, Consolidated 

Financial Statements. Consideration paid for the Company’s common shares held by the SIP Trust is deducted from 

shareholders' equity and the common shares are treated as cancelled in the Company's basic earnings per share 

calculation. 

 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the SIP Trust did not purchase any common shares. 

 

A summary of the status of the SIP Trust as at December 31, 2020, and the changes during the year then ended is as 

follows: 

 

 
Note 21 - Share Options and Deferred Share-Based Awards 
 

a. Share Options 

 

Under the Company's common share option plan (the Share Option Plan), the Company may grant options to 

acquire up to 10% of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Company to directors, officers, employees 

and service providers of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.  The maximum term of an option is ten years from 

the date of grant.  Options may be granted by reference to the Company's common share price on the TSX.  The 

related vesting period over which share-based compensation expense is recognized is up to four years.  Each share 

option awarded under the Share Option Plan is equity-settled and the share-based compensation expense is based on 

the fair value estimate on the business day prior to the grant date.  

Number of 
common shares 

(thousands)

Balance, December 31, 2019 1,272

Acquired - Granted —

Acquired - Dividends —

Released on Vesting —

Activity during the year —

Balance, December 31, 2020 1,272
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A summary of the status of the Share Option Plan as at December 31, 2020, and 2019, and the changes during the 

years then ended is as follows: 

 

 
Common share options outstanding and vested under the Share Option Plan as at December 31, 2020, are as follows: 

 

 
As at December 31, 2020, the number of outstanding options under the Share Option Plan as a percentage of 

common shares outstanding was 0.24% (December 31, 2019 – 1.00%). 

 

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded $1 (2019 - nil) in share-based compensation expense 
relating to the Share Option Plan with a corresponding increase to contributed surplus. 

 
The weighted-average fair value of the options granted and principal assumptions applied for options granted during 
2020 are as follows: 
 

 
1 Determined using the yield on Government of Canada benchmark bonds with a remaining term equal to the expected option life 
2 Based on the annual dividend yield on the date of grant 
3 Estimated by considering historic average share price volatility 
4 Estimated based upon historical data for the holding period of options between the grant and exercise dates, together with the assumption that a 
certain percentage of options will lapse due to forfeitures 

Number of common share 
options (thousands) 

Weighted-
average exercise 

price

Balance, December 31, 2018 1,684  7.02 

Forfeitures (931) 7.30 

Balance, December 31, 2019 753 6.67 

Granted 110 1.71 

Forfeitures (488) 6.53 

Balance, December 31, 2020 375 5.40 

Range of exercise prices
Number outstanding 

(thousands)

Weighted-
average exercise 

price

 Weighted-
average 

remaining 
contractual life

Number 
vested

1.62-1.80 110 1.71 6.95 — 

6.00 110 6.00 0.87 110

7.60 155 7.60 0.25 155

Balance, December 31, 2020 375 265

Weighted average fair value $ 0.53

Weighted average of key assumptions:
Common share price on grant date $ 1.71
Exercise price $ 1.71

Risk-free interest rate 
1 %

Dividend yield 
2 — 

Expected volatility 
3 %

Expected option life (years) 
4

0.35

39.67

4.00
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b. Deferred Share-Based Awards 

 

Share Incentive Plan 

 

The Company adopted the SIP to provide eligible employees (Participants) with compensation opportunities to 

encourage ownership of common shares, to attract, retain and motivate key personnel and reward certain officers 

and employees of the Company for significant performance. Pursuant to the terms of the SIP, the Company awards 

restricted share units (RSUs) and performance share units (PSUs) to certain Participants. The RSUs awarded are 

subject to service vesting conditions. The PSUs awarded are subject to market and non-market performance vesting 

conditions including both absolute and relative shareholder return, return on equity, and adjusted net income per 

common share with a minimum performance factor of zero and maximum performance factor of 150% of the 

original grant.  The expense related to the PSUs varies based on the Company’s performance and is determined 

based on a probability-weighted-average of outcomes at each reporting date.  During the vesting period, dividend 

equivalents accrue to the Participants in the form of additional share units. 

 

The fair value of the RSUs is determined based on the five-day average of the closing price of the Company’s 

common shares on the grant date and is amortized over the vesting period of generally three years.  The weighted-

average fair value of RSUs awarded to Participants during the year ended December 31, 2020, was $95 (2019 - nil). 

The compensation expense relating to the RSUs recorded during the year was $6 (December 31, 2019 - $2,847). 

 

The fair value of the PSUs is determined in accordance with IFRS 2, Share-Based Payments and is amortized over 

the vesting period of generally three years.  The Company did not award any PSUs to Participants in 2020 or 2019 

and did not incur any compensation expense in 2020 or 2019. 

 

A summary of the status of the Company's Share Incentive Plan as at December 31, 2020, and the changes during 

the year then ended is as follows: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Number of 
RSUs

Balance, December 31, 2019 794

Dividends credited 9

Granted 55

Vested (30)

Forfeited (315)

Balance, December 31, 2020 513
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Note 22 - Provisions, Contingencies and Commitments 
 

a. Provisions 

 

The Company recognizes provisions when it is probable that it has a present legal or constructive obligation arising 

from a past event which will result in an outflow of resources that can be reliably estimated. The Company assesses 

the adequacy of its provisions, if any, at each reporting period. A summary of the Company's provisions as at 

December 31, 2020, and 2019 and the changes during the years are as follows: 

 

 

The Company added a legal provision of $9,411 which was acquired as part of the RGMP Transaction.  

 

b. Contingent Liabilities 

 

The Company in the normal course of business is involved in legal proceedings, including regulatory reviews.  

Legal provisions that are assumed as part of a business acquisition are recorded by the Company at fair value if there 

is a present obligation for a past event that can be reliably measured even if it is not probable that the Company will 

incur a loss.  Management and the Company's external legal counsel are involved in assessing likelihood and in 

estimating any amounts involved.  While there is inherent difficulty in predicting the outcome of such matters, based 

on current knowledge and consultation with legal counsel, the Company does not expect that the outcome of any of 

these matters, individually or in the aggregate, would have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial 

position or results of operations.  The company estimates the aggregate range of reasonably possible losses (RPL) in 

its legal actions based on considering scenarios which are neither probable nor remote. As at December 31, 2020, 

the Company’s RPL inclusive of provisions in relation to legal and restructuring matters is estimated to be from 

$15,817 to approximately $21,807. The Company’s provisions and RPL represent the best estimates based upon 

currently available information for actions for which estimates can be made, but there are a number of factors that 

could cause the Company’s provisions and/or RPL to be significantly different from its actual or RPL. 

 

Prior to the sale of its capital market business on December 6, 2019, the Company provided financial advisory, 

underwriting and other services to, and trading of the securities of issuers that were involved with new and emerging 

industries, including the U.S. cannabis industry. Activities within such industries, including the U.S. cannabis 

Total 
Provisions

 Balance, December 31, 2018 — 787            787          

 Additions  28,161         — 28,161     

 Payments (8,393)         (209)           (8,602)     

 Recoveries — (167)           (167)        

 Balance, December 31, 2019 19,768         411            20,179     

 Liability acquired 9,411           — 9,411       

 Additions  322              — 322          

 Payments (10,091)       (225)           (10,316)   

 Balance, December 31, 2020          19,410              186      19,596 

Restructuring 
and Legal 
Provisions

Onerous 
Contracts
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industry, typically have not had the benefit of a history of successful operating results. In addition to the economic 

uncertainties associated with new industries, new activities and new issuers, the laws applicable to such industries or 

activities, particularly the U.S. cannabis industry and the activities of issuers in that industry, and the effect or 

enforcement of such laws are undetermined, conflicting and uncertain. With respect to the U.S. cannabis industry, 

cannabis continues to be a controlled substance under the United States Controlled Substances Act and as such, there 

is a risk that certain issuers, while in compliance with applicable state law, may be prosecuted under federal law. 

Accordingly, the Company has adopted policies and procedures reasonably designed to ensure compliance with the 

United States Currency and Foreign Transactions Reporting Act of 1970 and the guidance issued by the United 

States Department of the Treasury Financial Crimes Enforcement Network, FIN-2014-G001 (the FinCEN Guidance) 

relating to providing financial services to marijuana related businesses in the United States (as that term is used in 

the FinCEN Guidance). While the Company took steps to identify the risks associated with emerging industries, 

including the U.S. cannabis industry, and only provided services to those issuers where it determined that there was 

no material risk to the Company or where any risk was unlikely to result in a material adverse consequence to the 

Company, there is a risk that the Company could be the subject of third-party proceedings, which may have a 

material adverse effect on the Company's business, revenue, operating results and financial condition as well as the 

Company’s reputation, even if such proceedings were concluded successfully in favour of the Company. The 

Company has determined that any such proceedings are unlikely and, accordingly, has not recorded a provision in 

respect of such matters. 

 

c. Commitments 

 

The Company has entered into lease agreements for office premises and equipment for periods up to December 31, 

2037.   Aggregate future minimum annual payments for the fiscal years ended December 31 are as follows: 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2020 2019

Less than 1 year 8,549 713

1-5 years 23,661 696

Greater than 5 years 48,849 —  

81,059 1,409
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Note 23 - Financial Guarantees 
 

RF Securities as required by IIROC has executed a full cross guarantee arrangement with Richardson Wealth which 

stipulates that, in the event of default, RF Securities guarantees Richardson Wealth's outstanding obligations to 

clients up to RF Securities' risk-adjusted capital, as prescribed by IIROC. In return, Richardson Wealth has 

guaranteed RF Securities' obligations to clients, in the event of default, up to Richardson Wealth's risk-adjusted 

capital.  The Company has not recorded an allowance for expected credit loss in connection with this arrangement. 

 

In the normal course of business, the articles of incorporation provide for the indemnification of the Company’s 

officers, former officers, directors and former directors against any and all costs, charges and expenses, including 

amounts paid to settle an action or satisfy a judgment, reasonably incurred in respect of any civil, criminal or 

administrative action or proceeding in which they are involved by reason of being or having been a director or 

officer of the Company or its subsidiaries. 

 
 
Note 24 - Other Income 
 

 
1Reflects preferred share dividends received from Richardson Wealth prior to the RGMP transaction.   
2Included in Other is insurance and private client capital markets and certain other income.  
  

2020 2019

Brokerage services 11,101 8,879

Preferred dividend from associate
1 1,681 2,414

Foreign exchange 3,584 2,879

Other
2 4,907 —  

21,273 14,172



 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 
($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE) 

 
 
 

 
 

 2020 43   
 

   
 

Note 25 - Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share 
 
Net income (loss) per common share consists of the following: 
 

 
 

1In the case of a net loss, the impact of the shares pledged and other common shares subject to vesting conditions under share-based 
compensation programs on diluted net loss per common share will be anti-dilutive, therefore basic and diluted net loss per common share will be 
the same.  
 
 
 
 

2020 2019

Net income (loss) from continuing operations

Less: Dividends on Series B Preferred Shares

Less: Dividends on Series C Preferred Shares
Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders 
   from continuing operations

Net (loss) from discontinued operation

Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders

Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding

Basic

Common shares

Common shares pledged 

Common shares held by the SIP Trust

Contingently returnable common shares awarded to employees

Diluted

Dilutive effect of common shares pledged

Dilutive effect of shares held by the SIP Trust

Dilutive effect of contingently returnable common shares awarded to employees

Net income (loss) per common share - Basic

    Continuing operations $ 0.35 $ (0.26)

    Discontinued operation $ (0.01) $ (0.56)

    Total $ 0.34 $ (0.82)

Net income (loss) per common share - Diluted 
1

    Continuing operations $ 0.27 $ (0.26)

    Discontinued operation $ (0.01) $ (0.56)

 Total $ 0.26 $ (0.82)

(restated)

29,408 (13,710)

25,218 (18,111)

(661) (39,448)

(3,220) (3,220)

(970) (1,181)

24,557 (57,559)

(1,272) (2,725)

(19,128) (2,898)

93,798 75,446

(378) (35)

378 35

73,020 69,788

93,798 75,446

1,272 2,725

19,128 2,898
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Note 26 - Financial Risk Management 
 

a. Financial Instruments 

 

IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, as issued by the IASB requires disclosure of a three-level hierarchy for fair value 

measurement based upon transparency of inputs to the valuation of an asset or a liability as of the measurement date. 

 

Level 1. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  Level 1 assets and liabilities  

generally  include debt and equity securities that are traded on an active exchange. 

Level 2. Fair value is based on inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.  Level 2 assets and liabilities include equity and debt 

securities  that are not listed on an active exchange. 

Level 3. Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data. 

 

In determining the fair value of its financial instruments, the Company uses observable market data, when available, 

and,  minimizes the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible. Level 2 debt and money market securities are 

priced using securities industry market data providers based on aggregated trade data or reference prices based on 

yield, maturity and risk rating. Level 2 equities are valued using last trade price or based on recent offerings or 

financings.  Level 3 equities are broker warrants that are valued using an internal model that uses observable data of 

the underlying security. Gains and losses recognized during the periods were recorded through FVPL in the principal 

transactions line of the consolidated statements of income (loss). 
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The following tables present the level within the fair value hierarchy of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities 

carried at fair value: 

 

 

 

 

Financial assets

Securities owned

Debt securities

Canadian and U.S. federal government debt 35,481 1,815 —  37,296 

Provincial and municipal government debt —  10,688 —  10,688 

Corporate and other debt —  19,660 —  19,660 

Equity securities 1,528 —  —  1,528 

Derivative financial assets — —  1,150 1,150 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 37,009 32,163 1,150 70,322 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income —  —  — —

Financial assets carried at fair value 37,009 32,163 1,150 70,322 

Financial liabilities

Obligations related to securities sold short

Debt securities

Canadian and U.S. federal government debt 90 11,761 — 11,851 

Provincial and municipal government debt —  590 — 590 

Corporate and other debt —  2,879 — 2,879 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 90 15,230 —  15,320 

Financial liabilities carried at fair value 90 15,230 —  15,320 

As at December 31, 2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Total

 fair value
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The following table presents the changes in fair value measurements of financial assets included in Level 3 of the 

fair value hierarchy: 

 

 

 

 

 

Financial assets

Securities owned

Debt securities

Canadian and US federal government debt 45,395 1,650 —  47,045

Provincial and municipal government debt —  6,275 —  6,275

Corporate debt and other —  11,514 —  11,514

Equity securities 518 44 —  562

Derivative financial assets —  —  45 45

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 45,913 19,483 45 65,441

Preferred share investments in associate

Investments in associate

Class B preferred shares —  —  30,422 30,422

Special preference shares —  —  673 673

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income —  —  31,095 31,095

Financial assets carried at fair value 45,913 19,483 31,140 96,536

Financial liabilities

Obligations related to securities sold short

Debt securities

Canadian and US federal government debt —  6,999 —  6,999

Provincial and municipal government debt —  3,109 —  3,109

Corporate debt and other —  1,291 —  1,291

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss —  11,399 —  11,399

Financial liabilities carried at fair value —  11,399 —  11,399

As at December 31, 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Total

 fair value

Balance, December 31, 2018 36,724

Net unrealized loss before income taxes on broker warrants (46)

Sale and redemptions (5,538)

Balance, December 31, 2019 31,140

Net unrealized gain before income taxes on broker warrants 1,150

Sales and redemptions (45)

Elimination of Richardson Wealth preference shares (31,095)

Balance, December 31, 2020 1,150
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Market Risk 

 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 

changes in market prices.  For purposes of this disclosure, the Company segregates market risk into three categories: 

fair value risk, interest rate risk and currency risk. 

 

Fair Value Risk 

 

Fair value risk is the potential for loss from an adverse movement in the value of a financial instrument.  The 

Company incurs fair value risk through its trading positions and portfolio of securities owned. 

 

Fair Value Sensitivity Analysis 

 

The following tables include the Company's significant financial instruments recorded on the consolidated balance 

sheets as at December 31, 2020, and 2019, at fair value and demonstrates the sensitivity of the Company’s net 

income and OCI, to reasonable changes in fair value of those instruments. 

 

 

 
 

Interest Rate Risk 

 

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market interest rates.  The Company incurs interest rate risk on its own cash and cash 

equivalent balances, on its client account cash balances, cash delivered or received in support of securities 

borrowing or lending activities, interest earned on loans provided to certain Richardson Wealth employees, 

 

All cash and cash equivalent balances mature within three months.  Interest rates on client account cash balances are 

based on floating interest rates that vary depending on the amount of cash deposited or borrowed by the Company’s 

clients.  The Company’s loans provided to certain Richardson Wealth employees currently bear interest at the prime 

rate of interest plus 2.5%. 

 

 

 

 

As at December 31, 2020 Carrying value

Effect of a 10% 
increase in fair 

value on net 
income

Effect of a 10% 
decrease in fair 

value on net 
income

Securities owned, net of securities sold short 55,002 4,043 (4,043)

As at December 31, 2019 Carrying value

Effect of a 10% 
increase in fair 

value on net 
income

Effect of a 10% 
decrease in fair 

value on net 
income

Securities owned, net of securities sold short 54,042 3,972 (3,972)
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Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis 

 

The tables below provide the potential impact of an immediate and sustained 100 basis point (bp) increase or 100 bp 

decrease in interest rates on net income applied to the balances outstanding at December 31, 2020, and 2019.  The 

analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. 

 

 

 

Currency Risk 

 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 

changes in foreign exchange rates.  The Company incurs currency risk primarily on its net investments in foreign 

subsidiaries which conduct their activities primarily in their respective local currency.  The Company does not 

undertake any hedging of its net investments in foreign subsidiaries.  The Company also incurs currency risk on 

financial instruments held by the operating subsidiaries of the Company denominated in currencies other than their 

functional currency, which includes cash and cash equivalents, client account cash balances and broker receivables 

and payables. 

 

 

As at December 31, 2020 Carrying value

Effect of a 100bp 
increase in market 

interest rates on 
net income

Effect of a 100bp 
decrease in market 

interest rates on 
net income

Cash and cash equivalents 556,245 4,088 (4,088)

Securities owned, net of securities sold short 55,002 404 (404)

Funds deposited in trust 409,648 3,011 (3,011)

Employee and other loans receivable 67,475 496 (496)

Receivable from clients 455,166 3,345 (3,345)

Securities borrowing and lending, net (87,592) (644) 644 

Payable to clients (1,183,572) (8,699) 8,699 

Promissory note (14,826) (109) 109 

As at December 31, 2019 Carrying value

Effect of a 100bp 
increase in market 

interest rates on 
net income

Effect of a 100bp 
decrease in market 

interest rates on 
net income

Cash and cash equivalents 516,601 3,796 (3,796)

Securities owned, net of securities sold short 54,042 397 (397)

Funds deposited in trust 348,553 2,562 (2,562)

Preferred share investments in associate 31,095 229 (229)

Employee and other loans receivable 1,903 14 (14)

Receivable from clients 256,075 1,882 (1,882)

Securities borrowing and lending, net 16,212 119 (119)

Payable to clients (958,354) (7,043) 7,043 

Promissory note (15,603) (115) 115 
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Currency Risk Sensitivity Analysis 

 

The tables below summarize the effects on net income and OCI as a result of a 10% change in the value of certain 

foreign currencies against the Canadian dollar as at December 31, 2020, and 2019.  The analysis assumes that all 

other variables remain constant. 

 

 

 

Credit Risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with the inability of a third party to fulfill its payment obligations.  The 

Company is exposed to the risk that third parties owing money, securities or other assets to it will not perform their 

obligations. These parties include trading counterparties, customers, clearing agents, stock exchanges, clearing 

houses and other financial intermediaries. 

 

A primary source of credit risk to the Company arises when the Company extends credit to clients of its introducing 

brokers, Richardson Wealth and Stifel, to purchase securities by way of margin lending.  Margin loans are due on 

demand and are collateralized by the financial instruments in the client's account.  The Company faces a risk of 

financial loss in the event a client fails to meet a margin call if market prices for securities held as collateral decline 

and the Company is unable to recover sufficient value from the collateral held.  The Company also faces credit risk 

due to the default or deterioration in credit quality of a counterparty or an issuer of securities held in connection with 

the facilitation of client transactions relating to the Company's fixed income trading activities. 

 

Credit risk is managed in a number of ways.  For margin lending, management has established limits that are 

generally more restrictive than those required by applicable regulatory policies.  Additionally, the Company 

manages its credit risk in certain types of trading activities through the establishment of aggregate limits by 

individual counterparty, reviewing security and loan concentrations and marking to market collateral provided on 

certain transactions.  Policies authorized by the Company prescribe the level of approval and the amount of credit 
exposure the Company may assume to a counterparty taking into account collateral or other credit risk mitigants 

As at December 31, 2020

Effect of a 10% 
strengthening in 

foreign exchange 
rates on net income

Effect of a 10% 
weakening in 

foreign exchange 
rates on net income

British pound sterling 5 (5)

Euro (7) 7

Australian dollar 10 (10)

United States dollar 1,125                      (1,125)

As at December 31, 2019

Effect of a 10% 
strengthening in 

foreign exchange 
rates on net income

Effect of a 10% 
weakening in 

foreign exchange 
rates on net income

British pound sterling 3 (3)

United States dollar 423 (423)



 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 
($ THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE) 

 
 
 

 
 

 2020 50   
 

   
 

where applicable.  The Company has not incurred any material loss arising from a counterparty default in 2020. As 

at December 31, 2020, the Company has an allowance for credit losses of nil (2019 - nil). 

 

The maximum exposure to credit risk relating to client and broker receivables, accounts receivable balances, 

employee and other loans receivable and share purchase loans without consideration of collateral is represented by 

the carrying value on the Company's consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2020, and 2019. 

 

Liquidity Risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company cannot meet a demand for cash or fund its obligations as they come due.  

Management oversees the Company's liquidity to ensure access to enough readily available funds to cover its 

financial obligations as they come due and sustain and grow its assets and operations both under normal and stress 

conditions. The table below sets forth the Company's obligations and when they are expected to become due. 

 

 

 

The Company holds its cash and cash equivalent balances with a number of financial institutions with high credit 

ratings.  All cash and cash equivalent balances are short-term in nature and are comprised of highly liquid 

investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with original maturities of three months or less.  

The Company considers Canadian federal government debt (such as treasury bills) with original maturities from 

three to six months as highly liquid investments.  Although these securities are not classified as cash equivalents on 

the consolidated balance sheets, they form an important part of the Company's overall cash management practices to 

address liquidity risk.  There has been no change to the Company's cash management practices during fiscal 2020.  

The Company's inventory of trading securities, which results from its facilitation of trades for retail clients and its 

own proprietary holdings, is recorded at fair value.  Payables and receivables to and from brokers and dealers 

represent open transactions that generally settle within the normal two-day settlement cycle and also include 

collateralized securities borrowed and/or loaned in transactions that can be closed on demand within a few days.  

Client receivables are secured by readily marketable securities and are reviewed on an ongoing basis for impairment 

in value and collectability. 

 
 
 
 
 

 Carrying value Expected term to maturity 

Payable to clients 1,123,894             Due on demand 

Payable to brokers 107,325                Due within one month 

Due to issuers 1,114                    Due on demand 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 44,655                 Due within three months 

Long-term debt 67,000                 Due within one year 

Promissory note 14,826                 Due within one year 

1,358,814  
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b. Capital Management 

 

The Company requires capital to fund existing and future operations, future dividends and regulatory capital 

requirements.  The liquidity of the Company's main operating subsidiaries is continually evaluated, factoring in 

business requirements, market conditions and regulatory capital requirements.  The Company's policy is to maintain 

sufficient and appropriate levels of capital through a variety of sources including credit facilities as discussed in 

Note 16. 

 

The following table sets forth the Company's capital resources at the dates indicated: 

 

 
 

 

Note 27 - Debt 
 

 
 

 
  

2020

Common shares 470,415 325,810

Preferred shares 112,263 112,263

Deferred share-based awards —  (5,525)

Contributed surplus 39,976 45,273

Accumulated deficit (260,621) (283,248)

362,033 194,573

2019

2020 2019

Syndicate of schedule I and II chartered banks 67,000 —  

Richardson Financial Preferred Shares 30,422 —  

97,422 —  
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Note 28 - Segmented Information 
 
Wealth Management 

 

The Wealth Management segment consists of Richardson Wealth.  Prior to October 20, 2020, Richardson Wealth 

was accounted for using the equity method and included dividend revenue recognized by the Company on its 

investment in Richardson Wealth Preference Shares.  As at and after October 20, 2020, Richardson Wealth activity is 

fully consolidated by the Company. 

Operations Clearing 

 

The Operations Clearing segment includes carrying broker and other administrative support services provided to 

Richardson Wealth and Stifel.  This segment also includes the Company’s securities borrowing and lending business. 

Corporate 

 

The Corporate segment is primarily comprised of corporate functions and public company costs and investment 

banking revenues in certain jurisdictions that were not acquired in connection with the sale of the capital markets 

business. Amortization of intangibles acquired as a result of the RGMP Transaction is included in the Corporate 

segment.  
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The following table presents selected financial results of continuing operations by segment for the years ended December 31, 2020, and 2019: 

 

 
1Amortization of $2,593 in the Corporate segment is primarily related to the customer relationship and brand intangible assets acquired as part of the RGMP 
Transaction.  

 
 

Revenue 56,584 2,384 27,546 32,031 (11) 2,425 84,119 36,840

Expenses

   Variable advisor compensation 23,726 —  —  —  —  —  23,726 — 

   Advisor loan amortization 3,490 —  —  —  —  —  3,490 — 

Employee compensation and benefits 12,469 —  6,381 6,921 4,824 7,320 23,674 14,241

Selling, general and administrative 9,595 61 10,386 12,015 3,458 3,363 23,439 15,439

Acquisition costs —  —  —  —  6,664 1,077 6,664 1,077

Interest 886 —  7,003 13,716 727 (11) 8,616 13,705

Depreciation and amortization
1 2,608 —  541 1,557 2,593 (7) 5,742 1,550

52,774 61 24,311 34,209 18,266 11,742 95,351 46,012

Gain on investment in associate —  —  —  —  45,734 —  45,734 —  

Share of net income (loss) of associate (2,365) 2,272 —  —  —  —  (2,365) 2,272

Income (loss) before income taxes 1,445 4,595 3,235 (2,178) 27,457 (9,317) 32,137 (6,900)

TotalWealth Management

2020 20192020 20192020 2019 2020 2019

Operations Clearing Corporate
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Note 29 - Net Change in Non-Cash Operating Items 
 

 

  

Note 30 - Update on COVID-19 
 

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 outbreak a global pandemic, which 
resulted in governments worldwide enacting emergency measures to combat the spread of the virus. These measures 
caused material disruption to businesses globally and led to considerable stress in global equity markets in the early 
days of the pandemic.  Equity markets recovered quickly and significantly from their initial lows in March and 
ended the year in positive territory.  The duration and impact of the COVID-19 outbreak is currently unknown, and 
the strength of the ultimate economic recovery will depend on the speed at which a vaccine can be administered on a 
mass scale.  It is not possible to reliably estimate the trajectory of the recovery or the impact on the financial results 
and condition of the Company in future periods. 

 

2020 2019

Securities owned (1,741) 44,951

Receivable from clients and brokers (259,488) 168,445

Employee and other loans receivable (33,191) 505

Other assets (51,921) 78,693

Obligations related to securities sold short 3,901 268

Payable to clients, brokers and issuers 363,515 (255,024)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities and other liabilities (10,210) 4,547

10,865 42,385
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